High Traumatic Energy Related Spine Injuries and Spinopelvic dissociations

Ph.D. thesis

Henrik Constantin Bäcker, MD

Clinical Medicine Doctoral School Semmelweis University



Supervisor:	Gergely Pánics, MD, Ph.D.
Official Reviewers:	Károly Pap, MD, Ph.D. László Entz, MD, Ph.D.
Head of the Complex E	xamination Committee:
	WINDS SZCHULUL, WID, FILD., DSC

Members of the Complex Examination Committee: László Rudolf Hangody, MD, Ph.D. Krisztián Szalay, MD, Ph.D.

Budapest 2022

Table of contents

	List of Abbreviations	4
	List of Figures	6
	List of Tables	8
1.	Introduction	.10
	1.1 Spine injuries	10
	1.2 Epidemiology	.12
	1.3 Paragliding.	.13
	1.4 Trauma management	.16
	1.4.1 ATLS Algorithm	16
	1.4.2 Diagnostics	.17
	1.5 Classifications	21
	1.6 Treatment	.28
2.	Objectives	.29
3.	Methods	31
4.	Results	33
	4.1 Overview of airborne injuries	.33
	4.1.1 Epidemiology of injuries	.35
	4.1.2 Interventions and treatment	.38
	4.2 Spinal fractures	.40
	4.2.1 Classification	.40
	4.2.2 Surgery	.45
	4.2.3 Concomitant injuries	.46
	4.3 Spinopelvic dissociations and sacral fractures	47
	4.3.1 Spinopelvic dissociations	.49
	4.3.2 Concomitant injuries	.52
	4.3.3 Sacral fractures	.55
	4.3.4 Comparison between spinopelvic dissociation and other sacral	
	injuries	.55

	4.4 Systematic review on Spinopelvic dissociation	57
	4.4.1 Demographics of included studies in the systematic review	58
	4.4.2 Treatment and neurological impairment	58
	4.4.3 Surgical fixation techniques	61
	4.5 Meta-Analysis on Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography	63
	4.5.1 Sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of DE-CT compared to C	Г66
	4.5.2 Implementation of DE-CT in clinics	74
	4.6 New findings	75
5.	Discussion	78
	5.1 Epidemiology	78
	5.2 Trauma management	80
	5.3 Treatment	82
	5.4 Anticoagulation after spinal injuries	86
	5.5 Rehabilitation	87
	5.6 Airborne sports injury prevention	88
	5.7 Algorithm in airborne sports patients	88
	5.8 Limitations	90
6.	Conclusions	91
7.	Summary in English	93

9.	Bibliography9	5

8. Summary in Hungarian94

10. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	114
10.1 Related to the thesis	114
10.2 Not related to the thesis	114

List of Abbreviations

- ABCDE Airway, Breathing, Circulation, Disability, Exposure
- ALL Anterior Longitudinal Ligament
- ANOVA ANalysis Of VAriance
- AO Arbeitsgemeinschaft für Osteosynthese
- AS Ankylosing Spondylitis
- ASIA American Spinal Injury Association
- ATLS Advanced Trauma Life Support
- BASE-jumping Building, Antenna, Span, Earth-jumping
- CBT Cortical Bone Trajectory
- CPR Cardio Pulmonary Resuscitation
- CT Computed Tomography
- D/BME Disc/ Bone Marrow Edema
- DE-CT Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography
- DISH Diffuse Idiopathic Skeletal Hyperostosis
- FAST Focused Assessment with Sonography for Trauma
- FN False Negative
- FP False Positive
- ICU Intensive Care Unit
- ISS Injury Severity Score
- kVp-kiloVoltage peak
- LODOX LOw DOse X-Ray

- MRI Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- $NM-not\ mentioned$
- NPV Negative Predictive Value
- OLF Ossification of the Ligamentum Flavum
- OR Operating Room
- PEA Pulseless Electrical Activity
- PLL Posterior Longitudinal Ligament
- PPV Positive Predictive Value
- PRISMA Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis
- PSF Posterior Spinal Fusion
- RIVA Ramus InterVentricularis Anterior
- $SI-iliosa cral\ screw$
- STIR Short Tau Inversion Recovery
- TF Triangular Fixation
- TIRM Turbo Inversion-Recovery Magnitude
- TN True Negative
- TP True Positive
- TSF Transverse Sacral Fracture

List of Figures

Figure 1: Components of a parachute

Figure 2: How Paragliding works

Figure 3: ATLS Algorithm

Figure 4: LOw DOse X-ray scan

Figure 5a: LODOX whole body lateral and b) antero-posterior radiography

Figure 6: Normal findings in FAST A) Morison Pouch; B) Koller Pouch; C) pathologic Morison Pouch in male, respectively E) female patient; D) normal four-Chamber view of the heart; F) normal sliding lung view

Figure 7: Algorithm after FAST examination in abdominal trauma

Figure 8: AO Spine classification

Figure 9: Roy-Camille classification

Figure 10: Denis zone 3 classification as U-, H-, T and lambda shape fractures

Figure 11: U-type fracture before and after reduction and triangular fixation

Figure 12: AOSpine, sacral classification (AOSpine)

Figure 13: ASIA score

Figure 14: Distribution of all injuries

Figure 15: Distribution of spinal injuries

Figure 16: C-type L3 fracture before and after posterior stabilization and laminectomy

Figure 17: Patient suffering from a T-Type spinopelvic dissociation with comminuted acetabular fracture: A-C) fracture pattern, D) immediate postoperative X-ray, E-F) 1 year follow-up

Figure 18: PRISMA Flow diagram of inclusion criteria for spinopelvic dissociation

Figure 19: Included articles according to the PRISMA Guidelines for DE-CT

Figure 20: Patient with a compression fracture with bone marrow edema at L2 and an increased singal intensity in the disc L1/2 based on MRI-STIR. Image from publication by Pumberger M et al [123]

Figure 21: (a) Forest plots for sensitivity, (b) specificity and (c) diagnostic odds ratio; (d) SROC curve for diagnostic test accuracy between sensitivity and FP rate for DE-CT

Figure 22: (a) Forest plots for sensitivity, (b) specificity and (c) diagnostic odds ratio; (d) SROC curve for diagnostic test accuracy between sensitivity and false positive rate for CT

Figure 23: Cortical Bone Trajectory (red arrows) versus traditional pedicle screw placement (black arrows)

Figure 24: Methods of spinopelvic dissociation fixation; a) iliosacral screw fixation, b) bilateral triangular fixation, c) combined triangular and iliosacral screw fixation

Figure 25: Treatment algorithm for patients with spinopelvic dissociation

Figure 26: Algorithm of aerial sports accidents and subsequent treatment based on the findings in this thesis. Prevention should be performed prior performing airborne sports and athletes should be aware of the risks. If an accident occurs a helicopter should be requested as pilots are typically landing in difficult area allowing quicker search and admission to the hospital. Patients should be admitted through the trauma room involving neurosurgeons, trauma and orthopaedic surgeons, interventional radiologists. If the patient is stable surgery is recommended where patients with any neurological impairment less than 48 hours or severe deficit greater than 48 hours is recommended.

List of Tables

Table 1: Swiss aerial sports patients' demographic

Table 2: Distribution of injuries according to the anatomic region in different airborne sports

Table 3: Emergency surgery indications including subsequent treatment classified by the leading medical specialty (ICP: Intracranial Pressure)

Table 4: Table 4: The impact of patients' age on injury severity score and location of injury in airborne sports related spine injuries

Table 5: Concomitant injuries and type of hospital admission

Table 6: Proportion of sacral fractures and spinopelvic dissociation among airborne sports, percentages expressed in brackets

Table 7: Fracture pattern of spinopelvic dissociation

Table 8: Treatment procedure in sacral fractures and spinopelvic dissociations

Table 9: Characteristics of 16 patients with spinopelvic dissociation

Table 10: Concomitant injuries related to spinopelvic dissociation and sacral fractures

Table 11: Overview of demographics, causes of injury, concomitant neurological impairment, treatment procedures based on the systematic review

Table 12: Surgical procedures, follow-up time and associated complications; SI – ilioscaral screw; TF – triangular fixation; PSF – posterior spinal fusion; NOS – Not otherwise specified

Table 13: Demographics of included studies; QoE – Quality of Evidence; D/BME – Disc/ Bone Marrow Edema

Table 14: Meta-analysis and findings for DE-CT; MD material decomposition; adaptive iterative dose reduction with different iterations: 1 mild. 2 standard. 3 strong; D/BME – Disc/ Bone Marrow Edema; TP – true positive, FP – false positive, FN – false negative, TN – true negative; CI – confidence interval

Table 15: Individual findings for sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV and accuracy for Computed Tomographies; D/BME – Disc/ Bone Marrow Edema

1. Introduction

Spine injuries can lead to a devastating outcome especially if neurological impairment is present. Although most of the fractures are related to osteoporosis, or motor vehicle accidents if related to high energetic mechanism. Rather uncommon however, likely underreported spine fractures are related to extreme sports such as airborne sports. Because of its landscape, Switzerland became highly important where people come from all over the world to do for airborne sports. In this thesis we want to highlight the relationship between spine injuries as well as spinopelvic dissociations and airborne sports and report the current diagnostic algorithm and subsequently treatment. In addition, because of the uncommon injury pattern of spinopelvic dissociation we performed a systematic literature review to compare the standards in treatment and were interested if a new diagnostic tool – the Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography – would allow higher accuracy and be beneficial in the initial diagnostics.

The spine consists of 24 vertebral bodies plus the sacrum. This includes seven cervical, twelve thoracic and five lumbar vertebral bodies. The vertebral bodies resist compressive forces acting down along the axis of the spine. Hereby, the stability is provided by the trabeculae and the outer cortical bone [1]. To resist higher forces during forward bending, the anterior cortex is thicker and less porous than the posterior one [2]. The endplates consists of cortical bone, of which the caudal one is thicker compared to the cranial one. In addition, it is supported with less dense trabecular bone [3], [4], [5]. The intervertebral central regions are covered with the intervertebral disc made up of thin hyaline cartilage. It is only weakly bonded to the bone and therefore allows spreading the compressive loading along the endplates [6], [7], [8].

The posterior neural arch is essential to protect the spinal cord and serves as attachment for ligaments and muscles [9], [10]. The discoligamentous complex consists of the posterior and anterior longitudinal ligaments as well as the posterior ligamentous complex which comprises of the flavum-, interspinous, and nuchal ligaments [11], [12].

For stability, the spinous processes can resist a proportion of the compressive forces, the apophyseal joints are the main stabilizers. In the lumbar spine these resist approximately 20% whereas the apophyseal joints in the upper spine only resist half as much [13]. For

the prevention of excessive lumbar flexion, the most important structures, are the intervertebral ligaments which span adjacent the neural aches [14].

The sacrum allows the comminution between the pelvic ring and the vertebral column. This transition is called spinopelvic motion which is defined as the difference between standing and sitting sacral slopes.

1.1 Spine Injuries

Spine injuries result mainly from a direct trauma onto the vertebral column or axial compression. Hereby, it has to be differentiated between vertebral fractures and/ or discoligamentous injuries. Latter one rather occurs especially in high traumatic energetic accidents, such as car accidents or falls from high height and maybe accompanied by other diseases such as the diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis or spondylitis ankyolosans.

Because of the spines' nature and its bone mineral density, which decreases with age, it is vulnerable to compression. Compressive forces typically act along the axis of the spine, perpendicular to the mid-plane of the intervertebral discs [15]. In falls from height a compressive overload may result on the disc and the underlying vertebral body. This can cause a cranial endplate fracture since it is weaker and thinner than the caudal one. Especially the lumbar spine is reported to be the weak link in the spine [16], [17], [18], [19]. The higher the energy impacts on the nucleus pulposus, the more compressive stress acts onto the annulus [20]. In combination with a spinal flexion an overload can result in a crush fracture. In accidents with shear, bending and torsional forces a much wider range of fractures can be sustained [21], [14].

Discoligamentous injuries can either result in addition to a vertebral fracture or isolated. Typically, anterior longitudinal ligament ruptures occur in hyperflexion injuries which can, in rare occasions, be accompanied by posterior longitudinal and posterior ligaments complex injuries. More often a combination of anterior and posterior ligament injuries are observed in translational injuries [22], [23], [24], [25].

Another injury which affects the transition zone between the lumbar spine, sacrum and the pelvis is called spinopelvic dissociation. It was first described by Purser et al. in 1969 followed by Roy-Camille et al. in 1985 [26], [27]. This fracture pattern was called suicidal jumper's fracture initially which was renamed to spinopelvic dissociation later on [28], [29]. Spinopelvic dissociation is typically of U-, Lambda-, or T-shape with a transverse fracture at the S1/S2 disc space or S2 vertebral body, extending into bilateral vertical sacral fracture lines. Hereby, the lower sacral segment and the pelvic ring separates from the upper central segment of the sacrum which results into an osseous dissociation between the sacrum respectively pelvis and vertebral column [30]. The term 'spinopelvic dissociation or bilateral joint dislocation [29]. Because of the high energetic accident and the change in pelvic incidence from change in flexion or extension, the posttraumatic mismatch between pelvic incidence and lumbar lordosis may affect the global sagittal alignment of the spine if not properly reduced [28].

Sacral fractures typically result from multi-directional forces acting on the lumbopelvic junction and therefore a combination of different forces [31], [32]. The position of the lumbar spine at the time of axial impact is most important [27]. In simultaneous kyphosis of the lumbar spine, anteriorly directed force vectors occur which causes flexion type spinopelvic dissociation classified as Roy-Camille type 1 and 2. On the other side, in patients with a lordotic lumbar spine during axial impact, extension type injuries occur which are described as Roy-Camille type 3 [27].

The most common complication of spine injuries and spinopelvic dissociations is dural tears as well as neurological impairment. Especially in spinopelvic dissociation, the incidence of neurological deficit is described of up to 94 and 100% of cases [33], [34]. Other complications may include soft tissue injuries such as a Morel-Lavallee lesion and further concomitant injuries [35].

1.2 Epidemiology

The most affected regions of spine fractures are located in the thoracic and lumbar regions with an estimated incidence of 700,000 fractures in the United States each year [36], [37]. Main causes of spinal and sacral injuries include osteoporotic fractures in elderly patients as well as high-energy traumatic injuries such as motor vehicle accidents. In latter ones the mean age of patients is reported with 45.7 years with a male predominance in 65.5%

of cases [38]. These fracture patterns have a major impact on death and disability in young adults such as neurological impairment and concomitant injuries [39], [40]. Incidences of spine fractures vary from 8,000 to 16,000 cases per year in the United States and for transverse sacral fractures between 3% to 5% of all sacral fractures [29], [41], [42]. The exact incidence of discoligamentous injuries of the spine remains unknown, however in the cervical spine approximately 0.34% of all injuries are accompanied by ligamentous injuries [43]. Only 2.9% of sacral fractures are pelvic disruptions associated with U-shaped or H-shaped sacral fractures [44], [28]. Typical causes include fall from high heights, high risk sports as well as motor vehicle accidents [45].

In terms of sports related spine fractures winter sports are the most common ones followed by mountain biking, contact sports (i.e. martial arts, American football) [46], [47]. Rather uncommon and likely underreported extreme sports include airborne sports which consists of Paragliding, Speedflying, Parachuting, Delta flying and BASE jumping [48], [49].

Because of Switzerland's landscape airborne sports are very popular of which Paragliding is the most popular one. One of the most famous venues for these sports is Lauterbrunnen (Berne, Switzerland), where approximately 15,000 jumps and flights are performed annually [50], [51], [52].

1.3 Paragliding

In the following a short overview of paragliding is given which is the most common and traditional airborne sports; thus, it contributes to the overwhelming majority of injuries and is partly similar to other aerial sports including Speedflying, Delta Flying, Parachuting and BASE-jumping. Since BASE-jumping, Parachuting and Delta Flying are primarily related to high falls especially casued by pilot errors, Paragliding requires knowledge on the thermic and the parachute itself to understand the potential risks and causes of falls.

Paragliding is related to the ram-air parachute which was invented for the military and developed by Domina Jalbert in 1964 [53]. This can be performed alone or in a tandem likewise Skydiving. For this, a wing, lines and risers, harness, a reserve parachute as well

a helmet are required. The parachutes are of elliptical-shape and persist of multi cells which can be controlled for lateral glide. It is of light weight without any rigid primary structure. At the front, the parachute contains a leading edge with cell openings and at the back the trailing edge. This allows an air flow when inflating the canopy with a higher pressure on the bottom of the glide than of the top. A whole lot of lines are attached to the parachute and allow to control and break it by the pilot.



Figure 1: Components of a parachute [53]

The parachutes are potentially aerodynamically unstable and only stable in calm air because of a low center of gravity. Possible rising air types are thermals, ridge lift and wave life. In thermal condition the hot air rises from the ground, whereas in ridge lift the air blows against mountains moving it upward, allowing a lift along its slope. The third type – wave lift – is equivalent to ridge lift at the beginning, however, turns into a downwind on the other mountain side. This condition may only occur in strong winds. In calm air the pilot tries to balance out the pendulum system of the parachute controlling the parachute effectively.



Figure 2: How Paragliding works [53]

The highest risk for pilots is when the parachute is collapsing. This may occur when the canopy pitches forward because of an insufficient angle of attack. In this situation the break must be pulled to anticipate the effect. Additionally, the pilot has to balance out the pressure up to restore it. Speedflying is an advanced technique of paragliding where smaller parachutes are used. These allow quicker descends from height however are potentially more unstable. If the pilots are unable to control and stabilize the parachute in speedflying or paragliding, due to lack of experience or a collapsed parachute, they are likely to fall completely uncontrolled and trying to land on the feet causing high forces primarily on the spinopelvic junction. Typically this occur during the landing from rather lower height.

In contrast to skydiving where participants jump out of a plane of helicopter, BASEjumpers typically jump from a fixed object such as a mountain. Hereby, the majority of BASE-jumpers have only one parachute which leads to devastating and highly severe injuries if the parachute cannot be opened. Then the pilots typically from higher heights without slowing down. Those pilots who survive try to aim for a forest or trees which can slow the fall down.

Delta-flying or also Hang gliding requires wing made of aluminum alloy or composite frame covered with synthetic sailcloth. The pilots hang below the frame in a harness and controls the wing by shifting body weight. The athletes do not have a parachute and start from a mountain, hill, cliff or raised terrain. The wings are designed to resist high bending and flex forces providing favorable dynamics. For landing the glider has to be stalled which tips up the nose which allows the pilot to land the feet. As this one provides a stable frame no emergency parachute is required and most accidents are related to the landing procedure at a too high speed.

1.4 Trauma management

Because of Switzerland's landscape a well-established air rescue system was developed with an emergency physician on board which allows early rescue and immediate admission to the hospital while providing maximal pre-hospital treatment. This may potentially increase the survival rate and prevent from further complications. Although this air rescue system was established for the trauma management, the majority of missions include strokes and heart attacks. Only a small percentage of helicopter missions (4.9%; n=544/11,055 in 2016) are related to traumatic injuries [54].

Once the patients are found and rescued they are admitted to the hospital. In Switzerland the largest university hospital is the university hospital Berne. It is a major level I trauma center and its emergency department consists of four helicopter spaces and three resuscitation rooms. The catchment area includes approximately 1.5 million people living in a 10,000 km² area for selected patients such as polytraumatized ones or uncommon suspected injuries including spinopelvic dissociation [55].

1.4.1 ATLS Algorithm

Patients with ISS equal or greater to 16 are initially examined in the resuscitation room. The clinical examination is performed according to the Advanced Trauma Life Support (ATLS) following the ABCDE principle as shown in figure 3 after treating the most obvious injuries, such as arterial bleeding by compression or using a tourniquet. If resuscitation is required, all reversible injuries (5 H's and 5 T's) must be identified which may cause a pulseless electrical activity (PEA) situation as this is the most common cause of death in polytraumatized patients [56], [57].

In intubated patients, if no life-threatening circumstances are found a wake up attempt should be performed.



Figure 3: ATLS Algorithm [58]

1.4.2 Diagnostics

Besides clinical examination several adjunctive tools are used. These include either plain chest and pelvis radiographies or whole body anteroposterior LOw DOse X-ray (LODOX), focused assessment with sonography for trauma (FAST) and full body computed tomography (CT) [25]. The LODOX is a whole body X-ray which replaces the conventional thorax and pelvis X-ray. This fastens the diagnostics and allows an overview for any potential life-threatening diseases such as pneumothorax, pelvis, spine or extremity fracture (Figure 4).



Figure 4: LOw DOse X-ray scan and radiographic imaging [59]



Figure 5a) LODOX whole body lateral and b) antero-posterior radiography [60]

The FAST assesses free fluid in the Morison – hepatorenal recess –, Koller – splenorenal recess –, Douglas pouch – between rectum and uterus for women respectively rectum and urine bladder for men – and pericard to exclude a tamponade. Additionally, the extensive FAST allows to exclude pneumothorax by visualizing the sliding lung between the pleura parietalis and visceralis. The different locations of the focus assessment with sonography for trauma is shown in figure 6 [61].



Figure 6: Normal findings in FAST A) Morison Pouch; B) Koller Pouch; C) pathologic Morison Pouch in male, respectively E) female patient; D) normal four-chamber view of the heart; F) normal sliding lung view [61], [62]

The following procedure depends on the general condition of the patient and the findings in the focused assessment with sonography in trauma. If the patient is stable and an acute abdominal bleeding is identified in FAST a CT should be performed, whereas in unstable patients an emergency surgery is indicated. This was summarized by Pace et al. in figure 7 [62].



Figure 7: Algorithm after FAST examination in abdominal trauma [62]

After the clinical assessment plain radiography or LODOX as well as focused assessment with sonography in trauma, a computed tomography is performed to identify any further injuries and to obtain more information. Although in some hospitals the CT is placed in the resuscitation room, according to the current guidelines, only in stable patients a scan should be performed.

In rare occasions where a discoligamentous injury is suspected and/or neurological deficit is observed, magnetic resonance imagining (MRI) may be used as a further adjunctive tool to assess spinal cord and ligamentous injuries. New alternatives for MRI are the Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography (DE-CT) which have shown promising results and were further investigated in this thesis [63]. Therefore, a special computed tomography respectively a special software module is required which uses two scintillation layers (two sources of x-ray), one normal and a second less powerful x-ray with two corresponding detectors. In rapid kVp switching, the tube voltages follows a pulsed curve which is collected twice for every projection at high and low tube voltage. The two scintillation layers enable a separation between the high and low energy spectra [64]. This allows to provide further information about the tissue composition, artefact reduction and optimizes images and detect bone marrow edema accurately and allow information about the potential involvement of the vertebral disc and/ or collagenous structures including tendons and ligaments likewise the MRI [63]. Major advantage is the availability and speed of the scan in comparison to MRI which can also be performed in patients with magnetic implants like a pacemaker which is mostly unknown in polytraumatized patients.

If clinical examination reveals only minor injuries, patients are transferred to the general ward. In unstable patients' emergency surgical interventions including thoracic, ventricle drainage insertions as well as pelvic external fixation are performed in the resuscitation room. All other procedures such as pelvic packing, external fixation of long bones or thoracotomy are performed in the operating room. If no surgery is required and patients are still potentially unstable, they are transferred to the intensive care unit.

1.5 Classifications

For the injury severity the most common classification used is the injury severity scale, which scales between 1 and 75, where 75 indicates unsurvivable [65]. For calculations, the three most severe injuries are used and added up by square of each individual injury. Therefore, the body is divided into different regions including (1) head and neck, (2) face, (3) chest, (4) abdomen or pelvic content, (5) extremities or pelvic girdle and (6) external injuries. In each region the severity is rated between 1 as minimal injuries and 6 unsurvivable. If any individual value is 6 the score is automatically to 75.

For detailed documentation of spine injuries a variety of different classifications can be used. Spine fractures can be classified according to the Magerl- and/ or AO-Spine-Classification. The more recent AO-Spine classifies the indeterminate injuries to the tension band in addition to the fracture pattern which require further radiographic diagnostics including magnetic resonance imaging or Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography (Figure 8) [66], [25], [67], [65].

The vertebral body fracture patterns are categorized into minor, non-constructural fractures, wedge-compressions, split, incomplete or complete burst fracture before indicating discoligamentous injuries resulting in posterior wall structure involvement and/ or rotational instability (B or C type). Furthermore, the subcategories describe no significant injuries to the spine (fractures of the facet joint) – A0 –, wedge or impaction (A1), split or pincer fracture (A2), incomplete or complete burst fracture (A3 respectively A4), pure transosseous disruption (B1), osseoligamentious disruption (B2), hyperextension fracture (B3) and finally translational deformity as type C fracture. The modifiers describe the suspected presence of posterior capsuloligamentous complex injuries without complete disruption (M1), critical disk herniation (M2), stiffening, metabolic bone diseases including DISH, M. Bechterew, AS, OLF (M3) and vertebral artery abnormality (M4). This allows to categorize an assumption which may be finally confirmed or excluded intraoperatively.



Figure 8: AO Spine classification [66], [67], [68]

On the other side spinopelvic dissociations are classified according to the Roy-Camille and Denis classification. The topographical relation of Denis Zone III and the horizontal fractures can be further divided into 'U', 'H', 'T' and 'Y' shape as illustrated in Figure 9, 10 [29], [31]. Further one patient with a U-type fracture is illustrated in Figure 11.



Figure 9: Roy-Camille classification [69]



Figure 10: Denis zone 3 classification as U-, H-, T and lambda shape fractures [69]



Figure 11: U-type fracture before and after reduction and triangular fixation [70]

Likewise spine fractures, sacral factures can be classified according to the AO-Spine classification. Spinopelvic dissociation are defined as B4 or C type fractures which are unstable (Figure 12) [71].

AOSPINE

AOSpine Sacral Classification System



Figure 12: AOSpine, sacral classification (AOSpine) [68]

Besides the classification of the fracture pattern, the neurological impairment and the severity of injuries have to be classified. For neurological deficit the American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) impairment scale is the most common one used (Figure 13).

Hereby, type A presents a complete impairment in the sacral segments S4-5 for sensory and motor function, B, C and D an incomplete impairment with persevered sensory respectively motor function with a muscle grad of less than 3 or above 3 (D), and finally E with normal motor and sensory function.



Figure 13: ASIA score [72], [73]

1.6 Treatment

In patients where spinal or sacral injuries are identified the further treatment must be planned. For spine fractures and spinopelvic dissociations this varies upon the stability including discoligamentous injuries, fracture pattern, presence of neurological impairment and other concomitant injuries. These range from conservative to operative procedures. Operative procedures include posterior percutaneous versus open stabilization and/ or decompression of the spinal canal, with or without anterior spondylodesis, stand-alone anterior spondylodesis for spine fractures.

For spinopelvic dissociation treatment varies upon the presence of concomitant injuries and the injury patterns. Since conservative treatment has been reported to lead to unsatisfactory results with persistent neurological deficit and permanent disability, [30], [74] surgical lumbopelvic stabilization after reduction of the sacral fractures and decompression of the neurological structures is the treatment of choice [75], [76]. Hereby, procedures include iliosacral screw stabilization and/ or triangular spinopelvic fixation for spinopelvic dissociation.

2. Objectives

Because of the dearth in literature on injuries such as sacral fractures including spinopelvic dissociation as well as spine fractures resulting from high traumatic energy accidents especially in airborne sports and subsequent treatment, we wanted to investigate the following based on five different publications.

- 1. Investigation of the logistics of patients' admission and primary examination in all patients suffering from aerial sport injuries.
 - a. Admission of patients to the hospital which were divided into self-admission, by ambulance and air rescue.
 - b. Initial diagnostics which was either performed in the emergency room or the resuscitation room.
- 2. Investigation of the incidence of spine injuries, demographic of patients and spinopelvic dissociation.
 - a. Recording the patients' demographics such as age, gender and type of aerial sports.
 - b. Assessment of the incidence of spine fractures and spinopelvic dissociations per all patients admitted to the hospital between the period of interest.
 - c. Comparing the incidences of concomitant injuries including the evaluation of the proportion among patients suffering from spinopelvic dissociation and spine injuries.
- 3. Recording the different injury patterns and severity of injuries.
 - a. Calculating the severity of injuries applying the ISS of the three most severe injured body areas and comparing between the different aerial sports and patient groups (i.e. spine patients, spinopelvic patients).
 - b. Evaluation of the correlated onset of neurological impairment using the ASIA score.
- 4. The further procedure after completion of the diagnostics in the emergency room.

- a. Assessment of the further surveillance either treatment as outpatient, general ward, intensive care unit or operating room among all patients.
- b. If surgery for spine/ spinopelvic injuries was performed, the type of treatment differentiating between conservative, posterior percutaneous versus open stabilization and/or decompression of the spinal canal, with or without anterior spondylodesis, stand-alone anterior spondylodesis, iliosacral screw or triangular spinopelvic fixation.
- 5. The current knowledge on spinopelvic dissociation.
 - a. The demographics and different treatment options.
 - b. The establishment of a diagnostic and treatment algorithm.

6. Since MRI is not available in some cases and too time consuming especially in trauma patients the importance of DE-CT.

a. Assessment of the sensitivity and specificity of DE-CT of bone marrow and disc edema compared to conventional CT.

We hypothesize that patients who are admitted following airborne sports accidents are rather young, predominantly male with a high injury severity score. Further, because of the high energetic trauma, the spine and sacrum including the spinopelvic junction is predominantly affected. To optimize the diagnostic algorithm in trauma patients we hypothesize that Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography is a good alternative to MRI to detect discoligamentous injuries and we are able to developed a treatment algorithm for the treatment of spinopelvic dissociation.

3. Methods

At the university hospital Bern, Switzerland, which is a major level 1 trauma center we performed retrospective studies between February 2010 and June 2017. During this 7.5 year period we reviewed our emergency-care database at the hospital and included all patients who were older than 18 years at the date of hospital admission. Therefore, we obtained ethical consent from the Swiss ethical committee. Inclusion criteria consisted of patients who suffered from airborne sports related spine, sacral injuries or spinopelvic dissociation and were primarily admitted or transferred from another hospital to our emergency room. Aerial sports were defined as Paragliding, BASE-jumping, Speedflying, Delta flying and Parachuting. Primarily we focused on the different injury patterns among all patients and focused in a second step on patients with spine injuries and spinopelvic dissociations. Those patients who re-presented after primary examination and treatment or under the age of 18 were excluded from our study.

In all patients data on demographics, type of airborne sports, injury severity score, fracture pattern of spine injuries and sacral fractures including spinopelvic dissociation using the AO Spine classification respectively the Denis and Roy-Camille classifications were obtained. Furthermore, we assessed information about neurological impairment, concomitant injuries, indication and type of surgery as well as the acute trauma care management in the emergency department. To minimize the inter-observer bias of fracture classification, all radiographic images including LODOX, CT and if carried out the MRI scans were reviewed by one single orthopaedic surgeon (author of this thesis). In addition the injury severity score was calculated based on the information provided in the emergency database.

Following our studies we performed a systematic review on spinopelvic dissociation as well as on Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography, following the PRISMA guidelines. Therefore, the Medline, EMBASE, PubMed, Cochrane Library and Google database was searched. For search terms these included (spinopelvic dissociation) OR (spino-pelvic dissociation) OR (spondylopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbosacral dissociation), OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbo-pelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbo-pelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbo-pelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic dissociation) OR (lumbopelvic

OR (vertebral)). Any duplicate results, lack of full access to original articles, review articles and editorials were excluded. All articles which presented findings on spinopelvic dissociation demographics, treatment procedures and clinical outcome (healing, complication rate) respectively Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography investigating the sensitivity, specificity and accuracy in English, German and French were included.

For statistical analysis, Microsoft Excel spreadsheet, Origin Pro 8.0 and IBM SPSS Statistics 25, using a descriptive statistic presenting demographics, injury pattern including neurological impairment was applied. The mean and standard deviation were used for normally distributed continuous variables. For further calculations and graphs we applied the multivariate ANOVA t-Test to analyse the level of significances between individual cohorts. Finally, to analyse any correlations and relationships between individual groups, i.e. aerial sports and spine injuries, respectively spinopelvic dissociation a linear regression model was applied.

For the meta-analysis on DE-CT the R software version 4.0.3 was used applying the mada^package. The true positive (TP), false positive (FP), true negative (TN) and false negative (TP) results were collected. To calculate the pooled sensitivity and specificity as well as PPV, NPV positive and negative likelihood ratio and diagnostic odds ratio a bivariate random-effect model was applied. In addition, the random-effects model, the method of moments (DerSimonian-Laird) was applied to calculate the τ^2 as well as I² to conclude on the heterogeneity. Considerable heterogeneity was defined between 70% and 100%. To analyse the correlation between sensitivity and specificity the Sherman's correction coefficient was calculated, where >0.6 was considered to be considerable.

The level of significances were set to * p-value ≤ 0.05 ; ** p-value ≤ 0.01 and *** p-value ≤ 0.005 .

4. Results

4.1 Overview of airborne injuries

During the period of interest, between February 2010 and June 2017, 237 patients were admitted to the university hospital Bern, Switzerland suffering from airborne injuries. Two patients had to be excluded since they were readmitted, leaving 235 patients for inclusion. The most common airborne sport performed was Paragliding (n=194/235; 82.6%; including 13 tandem-Paraglider) followed by BASE-jumping, Skydiving (one tandem-Skydiver), Speedflying and finally Delta flying. Male were predominant in 84.3% (n=198/235) and the mean age of patients was 38.7 years (Min/ Max 18 - 74). The mean injury severity score was 16.5 (SD 14, range from 0 to 75) which varied significantly upon the airborne sport performed. Highest ISS was observed in BASEjumping however, without any significance (p=0.1). In total, 11 patients had to be intubated at the trauma site (4.7%; n=11/235). Most patients were admitted by air rescue in 66.0% (n=155/235) and 162 patients were primarily examined in the resuscitation room (n=162/235; 68.9%) or on the trauma normal ward (n=72/235, 30.6%). In one patient it was not mentioned in the medical reports were primary diagnostics were performed (n=1/235; 0.4%). Six patients were directly admitted by ambulance (n=6/235; 2.6%), whereas the remaining were either transferred from other hospital (n=44/235, 18.7%), self-admitted (n=28/235, 11.9%) or not otherwise specified (n=2/235, 0.9%).

After admission to the hospital, during examination in the resuscitation room three patients had to be resuscitated due to onset of a pulseless electrical activity of which two deceased unfortunately. One had a severe pelvis fracture, femoral fracture with liver laceration and hemopneumothorax, whereas the other patient suffered from a severe cranio-cerebral injury. In both cases only whole body low dose x-ray (LODOX) were performed without a computed tomography. The intrahospital mortality of patients suffering from airborne sports injuries was 0.9% (n=2/235) (per definition ISS 75). However, our database does not include the pre-hospital mortality. The demographics of patients and aerial sport distribution are illustrated in table 1.

	Overall	Paragliding	BASE-jumping	Skydiving	Delta Flying	Speedflying
Male (n (% of total numbers))	198/235 (84.3)	162/194 (83.5)	23/25 (92.0)	9/10 (90.0)	2/2 (100.0)	2/4 (50.0)
Injury Severity Score (n (SD))	16.5 (14.0)	16.0 (13.9)	21.1 (13.9)	13.3 (15.2)	18 (14)	19.8 (8.8)
Age (range)	38.7 (18-74)	39.8 (18-74)	30.8 (21-45)	37.2 (20-59)	51 (49-53)	33.3 (27-45)
Total Numbers (n (%))	235 (100.0)	194 (82.6)	25 (10.6)	10 (4.2)	2 (0.9)	4 (1.7)

Table 1: Swiss aerial sports patients' demographic [77]

4.1.1 Epidemiology of injuries

Within the 235 patients, 718 injuries were diagnosed which are 2.8 injuries per patient in mean. Most commonly, the spine was affected within 143 patients (n=143/235, or 60.9%) and 334 individual spine injuries (n=334/718, or 46.5%) as described in chapter 4.2, followed by thorax injuries (n=69/235, or 29.4%). Thorax injuries included lung laceration, lung contusion or edema (n=32/69, or 46.4%), followed by rib fractures (n=17/69, or 24.6%). Furthermore, fifteen subjects suffered from cardiac contusion, sternum fracture, or thoracic skin burning.

Abdominal injuries were less common in our cohort in 9.8% (n=23/235) and especially the liver was affected in 11 cases (n=11/235, 4.7%). Other injuries included the extremities with 122 (n=122/235, 51.9%) patients in total. Especially the lower extremity (n=65/235, or 27.7%) and the ankles were fractures (n=16/122, or 13.1%), followed by femoral fractures in 15 (12.3%, n=15/122) patients. Four patients (3.3%, n=4/235) suffered from combined fractures of the lower extremity. The upper extremity was affected in 24.3% (n=57/235).

The sacrum and pelvis injuries were observed in 52 cases of which most patients suffered from combined fractures (n=33/52, or 63.5%), followed by isolated sacral (n=11/52, or 21.2%) and pelvic fractures (n=8/52, or 15.4%) leaving 44 patients with sacral injuries. Finally, when looking at the face and head trauma we noted in 48 patients (n=48/235, or 20.4%) 52 injuries. The most common type of injuries were intracranial bleeds which occurred in 16 patients (n=16/48, or 33.3%), followed by concussions (n=15/48, or 31.3%). Skull fractures were present in nine patients (18.8%, n=9/48). All individual injuries are summarized in figure 14 and the distribution among the different airborne sports in table 2.

	Total	Spine	Extremity	Sacro/ Pelvic	Abdomen	Thorax	Head/ Face
Paragliding (%)	532/718 (74.1)	274/532 (51.5)	92/532 (17.3)	41/532 (7.7)	22/532 (4.1)	66/532 (12.4)	37/532 (7.0)
BASE-jumping (%)	134/718 (18.7)	48/134 (35.8)	33/134 (24.6)	12/134 (9.0)	5/134 (3.7)	26/134 (19.4)	10/134 (7.5)
Parachuting (%)	20/718 (2.8)	1/20 (5.0)	10/20 (50.0)	2/20 (10.0)	1/20 (5.0)	2/20 (10.0)	4/20 (20.0)
Speedflying (%)	24/718 (3.3)	11/24 (45.8)	2/24 (8.3)	-	1/24 (4.2)	9/24 (37.5)	1/24 (4.2)
Delta (%)	8/718 (1.1)	-	8/8 (100.0)	-	-	-	-
Total (%)	718 (100)	334/718 (46.5)	145/718 (20.2)	55/718 (7.7)	29/718 (4.0)	103/718 (14.4)	52/718 (7.2)

Table 2: Distribution of injuries according to the anatomic region in different airborne sports [78]


Figure 14: Distribution of all injuries [78]

4.1.2 Interventions and treatment

In the resuscitation room the implantation of 15 thoracic drainages and three invasive intracranial pressure (ICP) sensors were required. In 55 patients (n=55/235, or 23.4%) immediate emergency surgeries were indicated, whereas surgery was scheduled for another 61 patients within the following days (n=61/235, or 26.0%). For further surveillance, 19 patients were transferred to the intensive care unit (n=19/235, or 8.1%), in addition to the 55 patients who underwent emergency surgery (n=55/235, or 23.4%). Furthermore, 111 patients were hospitalized on the general ward (n=111/235, or 47.2%) and in total, 47 patients were treated as outpatient (n=47/235, or 20%) and were discharged from the emergency department within 24 hours. In terms of injury severity score, the ISS was significantly higher for the emergency surgery group (22.9) and the intensive care unit group (24.8) compared to all other patients (13.3; both p<0.005). All interventions and emergency surgeries are illustrated in table 3.

	Emergency	Procedure
	surgeries	
Extremities (%)	18 (32.7)	10 external fixations, 4 plate
Open fractures	12	osteosynthesis, 4 internal fixations
Closed fractures	6	with intramedullar nail
Spine surgery (%)	23/55 (41.8)	16 decompressions and pedicle
With neurology (%)	16/55 (69.6)	screw fixation, 7 percutaneous
Without neurology (%)	7/55 (30.4)	stabilizations
Pelvic fixation (%)	7/55 (12.7), including	7 plate osteosynthesis and in one
	one with urinary	case direct suturing of the bladder
	bladder rupture	
Vascular surgery (%)	3/55 (5.5)	2 arterial bypasses, 1 coronary artery
		angiography
Others (Visceral,	4/55 (7.3%), each 1	1 explorative laparotomy, 1
Plastic, Neuro, Maxillo		debridement (after burn), 1 cerebral
Fascial)		decompression, 1 maxillofacial
		fixation
Additionally	15 thoracic trauma, 3	15 thoracic drainages, 3 ICP probe
interventions	cerebral trauma	insertion
Total (%)	55 (100)	

Table 3: Emergency surgery indications including subsequent treatment classified by the leading medical specialty (ICP: Intracranial Pressure) [78]

4.2 Spinal fractures

When looking for patients suffering from spine injuries in total 148 were found (63.0%; n=148/235). No isolated discoligamentous injuries were observed. Most patients were primarily admitted to our hospital (n=129/148, or 87.2%) by helicopter (83.1% or n=123/148). Once the patient was transferred to our hospital initial diagnostics including primary and secondary survey was performed in the resuscitation room in 111 cases (n=111/148, 75.0%). At the trauma site, intubation was essential in five patients because of a Glasgow coma scale below or equal to 8.

The mean age was 39.4 ± 12.3 years (range from 18 to 71) with predominately male patients (84.5%, or n=125/148). The ISS was slightly higher than the overall average with a mean of 17.9 (±13.2). Significantly higher scores were observed in BASE-jumping, Speedflying and Parachuting compared to Paragliding (p≤0.01). In 77 patients (52.0%, or n=77/148) more than one isolated vertebral body injury was observed resulting in 334 vertebral body fractures in total. In a further five patients spinal contusion (three lumbal and two cervical) were identified, resulting in 339 spinal injuries overall.

As mentioned before, since Paragliding it the most popular airborne sport, this accounted for the most injuries in 128 patients including 7 tandem flights, followed by BASEjumping, Speedflying and two Parachuting (one tandem). Although injuries from Delta flying and other aviation sports were observed in our overall population, no spine injuries were found.

4.2.1 Classification

When looking for the most common affected vertebral body, L1 was injured in 20.1% (n=68/339), followed by L2 in 13.9% (n=47/339), T12 in 10.3% (n=35/339), and L3 in 8.8% (n=30/339). The distribution of the vertebral bodies is illustrated in figure 15.



Spine Level of Fractures

Figure 15: Distribution of spinal injuries [77]

In terms of severity, 272 spine fractures were classified as type A (n=272/334, 81.4%), followed by type B fractures in 13.8% (n=46/334), type C fractures in 1.8% (n=6/334), and in the remaining 10 patients the spinal facets were affected. In six cases (n=6/334, 1.8%) sacral injuries with a pelvic ring integrity were diagnosed. Of the 148 patients, traumatic dura tear was identified in 9.5% (n=14/148) and positive modifiers (M1 or M2) were found in 24 patients (n=24/148, 16.2%). Twenty-three of the 24 patients suffered from an indeterminate injury to the tension band on spinal imaging and one had ankylosing spondylitis. Figure 16 shows a patient suffering from a L3 C-type fracture before and after posterior stabilization and decompression.



Figure 16: C-type L3 fracture before and after posterior stabilization and laminectomy

In terms of age, younger patients (<30 years of age) suffered primarily from thoracic and lumbar fractures, whereas patients between 30 and 50 years as well as above 60 years

were rather diagnosed with fractures in the lumbar spine. The cervical fractures were predominant in 72% of cases in the age range between 40 and 60 years (n=18/25). When looking for the correlation between age and injury severity score, highest ISS with 27.6 was observed between 50 and 60 years of age (Table 4).

age range	Mean age	No of pat.	No. of injuries	ISS	cervical		thoracal		lumbal		sacral	
≤20	19.0	7	12	14.1	0	0	6	50.0	6	50.0	0	0
>20	26.4	33	88	19.1	2	2.3	41	46.6	43	48.9	2	2.3
>30	34.8	45	90	17.3	4	4.4	27	30.0	56	62.2	3	3.3
>40	46.6	33	77	16.1	10	13.0	22	28.6	44	57.1	1	1.3
>50	54.8	23	55	27.6	8	14.5	24	43.6	23	41.8	0	0
>60	65.1	7	17	18.2	3	17.6	4	23.5	10	58.8	0	0
Total		148	339	17.9	27	8.0	124	36.6	182	53.7	6	1.8

Table 4: The impact of patients' age on injury severity score and location of injury in airborne sports related spine injuries [77]

When looking for neurological impairment, this was present in 20.9% (n=31/148) of all patients. According to the ASIA guidelines most suffered from type D (n=13/31, 41.9%), followed by type A in 25.8% (n=8/31), type C in 22.6% (n=7/31) and finally three type B ASIA scores (n=3/31, 9.7%). In another eight patients sensory deficit was observed which could not be classified according to the ASIA score. According to the detailed anamnesis no pre-traumatic neurologic deficits were present.

4.2.2 Surgery

Spinal surgery was indicated in 78 patients (n=78/148, 52.7%) due to instability or neurological impairment. Hereby, emergency surgery was performed in 23 patients (n=23/78, 29.5%) as a highly instable spine fracture (C-type fractures or highly comminuted A-type and B-type fractures with intraspinal bony fragments) (n=7/23, 30.4%) with onset of neurologic deficit or unclear neurologic exam in an intubated or unconscious patient (n=16/23, 69.6%) was diagnosed.

The most common procedure performed was the open posterior spondylodesis with 67.9% (n=53/78), followed by percutaneous posterior stabilization in 21.8% of cases (n=17/78), and eight stand-alone anterior spondylodesis with cage and plate (n=8/78, 10.3%). In addition to posterior stabilization anterior body replacement was performed in 50 cases (n=50/78, 64.1%). As traumatic dura tear was observed in 14 cases a running suture (n=13/14) or a fibrin patch was applied (n=1/14).

In another two patients surgery was indicated however, the patients wished to be operated at the hospital close to their hometown. Therefore the patients were transferred directly after initial diagnostics were performed and life-threatening diseases were excluded.

Postoperatively, improvement in neurological deficit was observed in seven patients, whereas it remained the same during the hospital stay in 24 patients. Two patients improved from ASIA type C (incomplete neurological deficit of muscle grade less than 3) to type D (incomplete motor function with muscle grade of 3 or more) and in another 5 patients ASIA score improvement from type D (slight neurological level of muscle grade 3 or more) to type E (normal function) was noted. In those who suffered from a

complete neurological impairment no improvement was identified in the short-term, thus, sixteen patients were ASIA C or worse postoperatively.

4.2.3 Concomitant injuries

Besides the 334 spinal injuries in 148 patients, 95 patients (n=95/148, 64.2%) had 162 concomitant injuries including one severe burn and one patient who was successfully resuscitated after onset of a pulseless electric activity (PEA) after a BASE jump crash. All concomitant injuries are summarized in table 5.

	Overall	Extremity	Pelvis	Abdomen	Thorax	Head/Face
Paragliding (%)	128	39/48	19/26	9/14	38/47	21/27
		(81.3)	(73.1)	(64.3)	(80.9)	(77.8)
BASE-jumping	15	9/48	5/26	3/14	7/47	5/27
(%)		(18.8)	(19.2)	(21.4)	(14.9)	(18.5)
Parachuting (%)	2	-	1/26 (3.8)	1/14 (7.1)	-	-
Speedflying (%)	3	-	1/26 (3.8)	1/14 (7.1)	2/47	1/27
					(4.3)	(16.7)
Total (% per	148	48/148	26/148	14/148	47/148	27/148
overall)		(32.4)	(17.6)	(9.5)	(31.8)	(18.2)

Table 5: Concomitant injuries and type of hospital admission [77]

In addition to the 23 spine emergency surgeries, another 13 were indicated because of an unstable pelvic fracture in 5 cases, extremity fractures in another 5 patients – (4 femur fractures and one open ankle fracture, including two external fixations) and one exploratory laparoscopy (n=1). In the remaining two cases one skull fixation and one coronary angiography was performed (one for each; n=2).

In 12 patients a surveillance on the intensive care unit was required after initial assessment and 16 patients could be discharged from the emergency room the same day, as no severe injury was diagnosed. Those patients suffered from either contusion (n=5) or type A fractures (n=11). Prior discharge a standing X-ray was performed to exclude any further vertebral body compression and therefore instability.

4.3 Spinopelvic dissociations and sacral fractures

When looking for sacral fractures these were diagnosed in 44 patients (n=44/235, 18.7%). Likewise for spinal injuries, patients were primarily admitted to the hospital by helicopter in 79.5% (n=35/44) and examined in the resuscitation room in 81.8% of cases (n=36/44). Of the 44 patients most commonly sacral fractures without spinopelvic dissociation were observed (n=28/44, 63.6%). Spinopelvic dissociation were present in the remaining 16 cases (n=16/44, 36.4%). Likewise the overall demographics, there was a predominance in male with 72.7% (n=32/44). The mean age was 38.8 years old (SD 13.5) (Table 6).

Number of patients	All injuries	All sacral fractures	Other sacral fractures	Spinopelvic dissociation
All patients n (%)	235 (100.0)	44/235 (18.7)	28/235 (11.9)	16/235 (6.8)
Paragliding n (% per all patients)	194/235 (82.6)	34/44 (77.3)	21/28 (75.0)	13/16 (81.3)
BASE-jumping n (%)	25/235 (10.6)	8/44 (18.2)	6/28 (21.4)	2/16 (12.5)
Parachuting n (%)	10/235 (4.2)	2/44 (4.6)	1/28 (3.6)	1/16 (6.2)
Speedflying n (%)	4/235 (1.7)	-	-	-
Deltaflying n (%)	2/235 (0.9)	-	-	-
Age mean, (SD)	38.7 (12.3)	38.8 (13.5)	37.3 (12.4)	41.6 (14.9)
Gender (male (%))	194/235 (82.6)	32/44 (72.7)	21/28 (75.0)	15/16 (93.8)
Injury severity score, mean (SD)	16.5 (14.0)	26.8 (14.2)	20.4 (11.4)	38.1 (15.0)

Table 6: Proportion of sacral fractures and spinopelvic dissociation among airborne sports, percentages expressed in brackets [69]

4.3.1 Spinopelvic dissociations

The most common fracture patterns of spinopelvic dissociation were H-type in four cases, followed by three T-types (Figure 17), two U-types and two Lambda-types. No correlation to one of these patterns was observed in the remaining 5 cases. Especially the right side was affected in nine cases and five patients were injured at both sides. Only two patients suffered from a spinopelvic dissociation on the left side.

The most common complication reported was neurological impairment in four patients. Three of them suffered from an incomplete paraplegia or cauda equine syndrome (type B according to ASIA) and one patient was diagnosed with a traumatized lumbar plexus (type C according to ASIA).

Fourteen of sixteen patients underwent surgical stabilization and in the remaining two patients conservative treatment was recommended. One of the two patients had no concomitant injury or pelvic fracture, and the other one suffered from a non-displaced, stable spinopelvic dissociation. The most common procedure for fixation was percutaneous iliosacral screw stabilization in 43.8% (n=7/16) and in another 37.5% of cases a triangular stabilization (n=6/16) was performed either bilateral (n=4) or unilateral in two cases (n=2). In the remaining case a dorsal plate osteosynthesis for fixation was used. Retrospectively, we identified that the ISS was significantly higher in those patients who underwent triangular spinopelvic stabilization with a mean ISS of 46.3 (SD 14.7).

	Number of	Roy-Cam	Roy-Camille			Denis AO				Fracture pattern								
	patients (n)																	
		Low TSF	0	1	2	1	2	3		Α	B	C		Т	λ	U	H	Neurology
																		(ASIA score)
Spinopelvic dissociation	16	7	-	4	5	-	8	8		-	5	11		3	2	2	4	3B, 1C
Sacropelvic fractures	20	9	5	5	1	-	-	-		2	18	-		1	4	-	-	
Sacral fractures	8	3	2	1	2	4	-	-		6	2	-		1	-	-	-	

Table 7: Fracture pattern of spinopelvic dissociation [69]

	Conservative	Anterior fixation		Posterior	fixation	Decompression
			Combined anterior/posterior fixation	SI-screw	Triangular fixation	
Spinopelvic dissociation	2	-	11	7	6	1
Sacropelvic fractures	12	3	1	4	-	-
Sacral fractures	8	-	-	-	-	-

SI= IlioSacral screw; TF= Triangular Fixation; For spinopelvic dissociation posterior fixation was performed in 13 cases, one decompression and two conservative treatments. Anterior fixation occurred performed in 11 cases where posterior fixation was performed.

Table 8: Treatment procedure in sacral fractures and spinopelvic dissociations [69]



Figure 17: Patient suffering from a T-Type spinopelvic dissociation with comminuted acetabular fracture: A-C) fracture pattern, D) immediate postoperative X-ray, E-F) 1 year follow-up

4.3.2 Concomitant injuries

Concomitant spine injuries were identified in 12 patients (75.0%, n=12/16) and most commonly the lumbar one vertebral body was affected in 15.9% of cases. Besides spine fracture, thoracal injuries were found in 50.0% of cases (n=8/16) with three lacerations of the aortic arch and one traumatic dissection of the RIVA as well as intra-abdominal bleedings in 37.5% (n=6/16). Extremity traumas were less common of which the upper extremity was diagnosed in 31.3% (n=5/16), followed by the lower extremity in 25.0% (n=4/16) including one Morell-Lavallee lesion. Furthermore, three patients suffered from head and face injuries in 18.8% (n=3/16). All characteristics of the 16 patients are summarized in table 9.

Patient	Age	Gender	Type of	ISS	Sacral		fracture	Fracture	Pelvic ring	Neurological	Treatment ^a	Concomitant
			airborne		classifi	ication		pattern	fracture	deficit (AO-		injuries ^b
			sport		Denis	Roy-	AOSpine		(AO-	Spine		
						Camille			classification)	classification)		
1	59	М	Paragliding	45	3	2	C3	H-type	C1	-	4, 5	1, 2, 6
2	50	М	Paragliding	34	2	Low TSF	C1	T-type	C1	3	2, 5	1, 2, 4, 5
3	20	F	Parachuting	50	2	1	B4 right	L-type	C1	3	4	1,6
4	37	М	Paragliding	35	2	Low TSF	C3	n.a.	C2	-	2, 4	1, 2, 5
5	50	М	Paragliding	50	3	2	C1	U-type	C2	-	2, 4	1, 5
6	30	М	BASE- jumping	26	2	1	C3	H-type	C1	-	2, 6	1
7	36	М	Paragliding	30	3	Low TSF	B4 left	L-type	C1	-	2, 4	1,5
8	61	М	Paragliding	26	2	Low TSF	B4 right	n.a.	C1	-	2, 5	1
9	45	М	Paragliding	13	3	2	C1	T-type		-	1	1
10	38	М	Paragliding	34	3	2	C1	H-type		-	1	1, 3, 5
11	27	М	BASE- jumping	66	3	Low TSF	B4 left	n.a.	C1	3	2, 3, 5	1, 3, 4, 5, 6

12	71	M	Paragliding	50	2	Low	C2	T-type	C2	2	2,4	1, 3
						TSF						
13	43	M	Paragliding	50	3	1	C3	H-type	C2	-	2, 4, 5	2,6
14	19	М	Paragliding	57	2	2	C3	U-type		-	5	2, 3, 4, 5, 6
15	29	М	Paragliding	18	3	Low TSF	C1	n.a.	C1	-	2, 4	5, 6
16	50	M	Paragliding	25	2	1	B4 right	n.a.	C2	-	2,4	-

ISS = mean injury severity score; TSF = transverse sacral fracture; ^a treatment: 1 conservatively, 2 osteosynthesis of the anterior pelvic ring, 3 decompression, 4 iliosacral screw, 5 triangular lumbopelvic osteosynthesis; ^b concomitant injuries: 1 spine, 2 upper extremity, 3 lower extremity, 4 head and face, 5 thoracic trauma, 6 intra-abdominal trauma

Table 9: Characteristics of 16 patients with spinopelvic dissociation [69]

4.3.3 Sacral fractures

Other sacral fractures were identified in 28 cases of which sacropelvic fractures were diagnosed in 20 patients and isolated sacral fractures in 8 patients. Most commonly these were of low trans-sacral fractures. According to the AO-classification most sacropelvic fractures were type B (n=18/20) respectively in isolated sacral fractures (n=2/20), followed by type A fractures in 2 of 20 cases for sacropelvic fractures and 6 for isolated sacral fractures. For fracture pattern, Lambda-type was observed in 4 patients for sacropelvic dissociation (n=4/20) respectively T-type one each for sacropelvic and isolated sacral fractures (n=1/20; n=1/8).

A majority of those patients underwent conservative treatment in 71.4% (n=20/28). In the remaining eight patients either single anterior pelvic fixation was performed (n=3/28, 10.7%) or iliosacral screw fixation (n=5/28, 17.9%) and one combined anteroposterior stabilization. Luckily, no neurological impairment was observed. Likewise, for spinopelvic dissociation, the most common concomitant injuries were spine fractures in 17 patients (n=17/28, 60.7%). Others included pelvic ring injuries (n=19/28), extremity fractures (n=16/28) and thoracic injuries (n=9/28) as illustrated in table 10.

4.3.4 Comparison between spinopelvic dissociations and other sacral injuries

Although demographics including age and gender were equally distributed, the injury severity score for spinopelvic dissociation was significantly higher with 38.1 compared to 20.0 (standardized coefficient of 0.463, p=0.001). Other than that, spinopelvic dissociations were more commonly associated with vertebral body fractures with 75.0% in the spinopelvic dissociation group and 60.7% in the other sacral fracture group (standardized coefficient of 0.329, p=0.03). In addition, the incidence of neurological impairment was 25.0% in the spinopelvic dissociation group versus 0.0% in the other sacral fracture group. Other than that no significances were found for other concomitant fractures.

	ISS	Number	Spine	Extremity	Pelvis	Abdomen	Thorax	Head/ Face
Spinopelvic dissociation (%)	38.1	16	12/16 (75.0)	11/16 (68.8)	14/16 (87.5)	6/16 (37.5)	8/16 (50.0)	3/16 (18.8)
Other Sacral fractures (%)	20.0	28	17/28 (60.7)	16/28 (57.1)	19/28 (67.9)	4/28 (14.3)	9/28 (32.1)	3/28 (10.7)
Total (%)	26.8	44	29/44 (65.9)	27/44 (61.4)	33/44 (75.0)	10/44 (22.7)	17/44 (38.6)	6/44 (13.6)

ISS= Injury Severity Score

Table 10: Concomitant injuries related to spinopelvic dissociation and sacral fractures [69]

4.4 Systematic Review on Spinopelvic dissociation

As outlined in our studies, spinopelvic dissociation is a rare injury with an incidence of 6.8% (n=16/235) among airborne sports between February 2010 and June 2017. Until today no gold standard for fixation exists, why we were interested in the current literature and establishing an algorithm for treatment.

In total, 216 studies were found including 75 duplicates. Ninety-one studies did not meet inclusion criteria, leaving 50 articles to be included for the systematic review and metaanalysis between 1969 and 2018 according to PRISMA Guidelines (Figure 18).



Figure 18: PRISMA Flow diagram of inclusion criteria for spinopelvic dissociation [70]

4.4.1 Demographics of included studies in the systematic review

The 50 studies, reported 379 spinopelvic dissociations between 1969 and 2018 which outlines the rarity of this injury. The mean age of patients was even younger with 31.6 ± 11.6 years compared to our study. Furthermore, the gender was equally distributed with 49.3% being male (n=187/379). In 309 subjects the cause of injury was mentioned which in most cases was fall from a height like airborne injury (n=172/309, 55.7%). Of the 172 cases, 64 were suicide attempts (n=64/172, 37.2%) and in the remaining 108 cases other causes such as airborne sports injuries were reported. The second largest group was road traffic accidents (n=88/309, 28.5%) which included 72 cases of motor vehicle accidents as well as 16 bicycle and pedestrian accidents. In the remaining cases blast injuries (n=22/309, 7.1%) or other causes (n=27/309, 8.7%) were reported (spinal tuberculosis, epileptic seizure, osteoporotic, assault, shotgun injuries, helicopter accident or crush injury). Additionally, eight studies reported the injury severity score at a mean of 23 ± 3.8 .

4.4.2 Treatment and neurological impairment

In the majority of cases surgical fixation was performed (93.1%, n=353/379). The mean time from injury to surgery was 8.6±9.9 days (range from 0 to 43.5 days) [79], [80]. In the remaining 26 patients conservative treatment was initiated. For neurological impairment, 258 patients suffered from deficits before surgery (73.1%, or 258/353). Postoperatively, an improvement was observed in 168 patients (65.1%, 168/258), although 137 patients still had some degree of neurological impairment (53.1%, n=137/258). In 90 patients a remaining cauda equine syndrome (34.9%, n=90/258) after surgery was noted. Hereby, it has to be mentioned that only single case reports observed no neurological impairment, whereas in case series this was lowest with 19.4% of patients (n=6/31) suffering from neurologic impairment [81]. Some other authors reported an incidence in neurological impairment in up to 100% of cases [27], [82]. All demographics, etiologies, injury severity score, neurological impairment before and after surgery as well as type of surgery are summarized in table 11.

	Total	No of studies	Literature
Number of patients	379	50	[26, 27, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81, 83-121]
Gender male (%)	187 (49.3)	46	[26, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81, 83-86, 88-95, 97-120]
Age	31.6±11.6	46	[26, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81, 83-95, 97-111, 113-120]
Trauma mechanism (%)	309 (100.0)		
Fall from heights (%)	172/309 (55.7)	32	[27, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79, 80, 83, 85-88, 91, 92, 94, 95, 97-99, 102-
			104, 106-109, 112-116, 120]
Road accidents (%)	88/309 (28.5)	28	[26, 27, 29, 30, 44, 74, 75, 83-85, 90, 91, 94, 95, 98, 101, 102,
			104, 105, 107, 109, 111, 112, 115-117, 119]
Blast Injuries (%)	22/309 (7.1)	5	[30, 89, 93, 96, 100]
Others (%)	27/309 (8.7)	13	[30, 44, 74, 87, 91, 95, 99, 102, 107, 110, 111, 116, 118]
ISS	23.1±3.8	8	[44, 51, 74, 83, 91, 92, 102, 106]
Neurological deficit before (%)	258/353 (73.1)	49	[26, 27, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81, 83-90, 92-121]
Neurological deficit post treatment	137/258 (53.1)	40	[26, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79, 80, 83-85, 87, 90, 93-108, 111-
(%)			115, 117-121]
Cauda equine syndrome (%)	90/258 (34.9)	32	[26, 29, 30, 44, 74, 75, 79, 80, 83-85, 87, 90, 93, 98, 99, 104,
			106-108, 111, 113-115, 117-121]

Neurological improvement (%)	168/258 (65.1)	31	[27, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 80, 83-87, 90, 92-99, 102, 105, 107, 108,
			111-113, 115, 119-121]
Surgery (%)	353/379 (93.1)	49	[27, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81, 83-121]
Conservative (%)	26/379 (6.9)	8	[26, 27, 80, 83, 94, 96, 99, 109]

Table 11: Overview of demographics, causes of injury, concomitant neurological impairment, treatment procedures based on the systematic review [70]

4.4.3 Surgical fixation techniques

Within the 353 patients where a surgery was performed, 216 patients underwent open reduction (61.2%, n=216/353), and in 95 patients a closed reduction was performed (26.9%, n=95/353). In the remaining 42 cases (11.9%, or n=42/353) no reduction was performed [93] or not further specified [86], [51], [96], [100], [103], [80], [116]. Additionally, in 168 patients (47.6%, n=168/353) a decompression and/ or laminectomy was performed, whereas in 24 cases (6.8%, n=24/353) no decompression was performed. In the remaining 161 cases it was not otherwise specified. In four cases only an open reduction (n=1) or sacral laminectomy (n=3) [99], [80] was performed without fracture fixation.

For posterior fixation, most commonly, triangular fixation (TF) was performed in 243 cases (68.8%, n=243/353) and especially without iliosacral screw (SI) fixation (n=179, 50.7%). 26 patients underwent a combined triangular fixation with iliosacral screw fixation (n=26/353, 7.4%). In 38 cases (10.8%, n=38/353), a posterior lumbopelvic fixation was performed but without further specification if a combination with an SI screw or not was performed. A single iliosacral screw was performed in 75 patients (21.2%, n=75/353). Other fixation methods included plate osteosynthesis in 8 cases (2.3%, n=8/353) and in the remaining 6 studies ventro-dorsal stabilization [30], triangular fixation with plate osteosynthesis [102], treatment with external fixator alone or in combination with triangular fixation [108], block resection (n=4) [27], combined triangular posterior fusion with cage implantation [84], combined iliosacral screw fixation with plate osteosynthesis [115] or long sacral harrington hook modified for square stabilization was performed [27], [90]. Irrespective of the surgical technique, the healing rate was 100% in 307 patients, whereas in the remaining 46 patients (13.0%, 4 studies) no statement about fracture healing was made.

For follow up this was 23.6 months (range 3 months to 132 months) in mean. Five studies did not mention the follow up period [101], [109], [110], [111], [27] and in two no complications were reported [27], [112]. 96 of 321 patients (29.9%) had complications which ranged from superficial infection, screw disengagement, facet arthropathy to osteomyelitis. The highest complication rate was >100%, as one study noted 35 complications in 28 patients [85]. All surgical techniques, follow up, healing rate and complications are summarized in table 12.

	Total	No of	Literature
		studies	
Surgery (%)	353 (100.0)	49	[27, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81,
			83-121]
TF without SI screw (%)	179/353 (50.7)	25	[29, 51, 74, 75, 79, 81, 83, 85, 87-
			89, 92, 96, 98, 100, 102, 107, 108,
			110, 114, 116-121]
TF with SI screw (%)	26/353 (7.4)	5	[75, 87, 92, 98, 102]
PSF NOS (%)	38/353 (10.8)	4	[30, 94, 95, 97]
SI screw fixation (%)	75/353 (21.2)	18	[30, 44, 51, 87, 89, 91, 92, 96, 98,
			101, 103-106, 109, 111, 112, 115]
Plate osteosynthesis (%)	8/353 (2.3)	5	[27, 86, 92, 96, 113]
others (%)	6/353 (1.7)	7	[27, 30, 84, 90, 102, 108, 115]
Open reduction (%)	216/353 (61.2)	28	[27, 29, 30, 74, 75, 81, 83-85, 90,
			92, 94, 95, 97-99, 102, 105, 107,
			109-113, 115, 117-120]
Decompression/	168/353 (47.6)	45	[27, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81,
Laminectomy (%)			83-90, 92-99, 101-104, 107-116,
			118-121]
Surgery delay (days)	8.6±9.9	34	[29, 30, 44, 74, 75, 79, 80, 84, 86-
			90, 92, 95, 97-108, 110, 111, 113,
			114, 116-118, 120]
Follow-up (months)	23.6±25.2	46	[26, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81,
			83-100, 102-108, 112-121]
Healing rate (%)	307/307	46	[26, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79, 80,
	(100.0)		83-108, 111-121]
Complications (%)	96/321 (29.9)	46	[26, 29, 30, 44, 51, 74, 75, 79-81,
			84-111, 113, 114, 116, 117, 119-
			121]

Table 12: Surgical procedures, follow-up time and associated complications; SI – IlioScaral screw; TF – Triangular Fixation; PSF – Posterior Spinal Fusion; NOS – Not Otherwise Specified [70]

4.5 Meta-Analysis on Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography

Within our systematic review 13 studies (Figure 19) presenting data on the sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of DE-CT of bone marrow and disc edema in spine injuries with a total of 515 patients analyzing 3,335 vertebrae and 929 fractures (27.8%) were found.



Figure 19: Included articles according to the PRISMA Guidelines for DE-CT [122]

The majority of studies were of a prospective blinded (n=9/13) and 4 of retrospective design. Hereby, most of the studies assessed the individual vertebrae [123], [124, 125] and the primary end point included bone edema [126] respectively comparisons between DE-CT and conventional CT (n=6/13). All individual studies are listed in table 13.

Studies	Year	QoE	Nu	Fem	Age	Verte	Fract./	Design	MRI	experience
			mbe	ale		brae	D/BME			
			r							
Kaup M	2016	III	49	21	69.2	528	144	retrospective, blinded	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist between
									TIRM	13-25y
Pumberger M	2019	II	67	NM	70.7	295	142	prospective	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist 8y, Trauma
									STIR	surgeon 8y, Student 1y
Neuhaus V	2018	III	34	8	NM	383	57	retrospective, blinded	3 Tesla	NM
									STIR	
Diekhoff T 2019	2019	II	70	23	70.7	548	192	prospective, blinded	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist 8y, Trauma
									STIR	surgeon 5y, Student 1y
Karaca L	2016	II	23	5	61	209	47	prospective, blinded	3 Tesla	Radiologist 20y and
									STIR	15y
Bierry G	2014	II	20	4	69	185	16	prospective,	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist 30y and 6y
								randomized, blinded	STIR	
Diekhoff T 2017	2017	IV	9	3	75	23	14	prospective, blinded	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist 6y and 15y,
									STIR	Trauma surgeon 3y
Schwaiger BJ	2018	III	27	10	72	59	41	retrospective, blinded	3 Tesla	Radiologist both 6y
									STIR	

Foti G	2019	II	76	29	62.3	774	113	prospective, multi-	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist 35y, 15y
								institutional, blinded	TIRM	
Petritsch B	2017	II	22	9	60	163	37	prospective, blinded	3 Tesla	Radiologist 8y, 3y, 11y
									TIRM	
Wang CK	2013	II	63	NM	71.6	112	112	prospective blinded	1.5 Tesla	2 Radiologist
Na D	2016	III	38	25	55.6	NM	24	not mentioned	NM	
Engelhard N	2019	III	17	NM	70	56	24	prospective blinded	1.5 Tesla	Radiologist 8y, 2y,
									STIR	Student 1y
Total			515	61.4	65.6±	3,335	926			
					5.95		(27.8%)			

Table 13: Demographics of included studies; QoE – Quality of Evidence; D/BME – Disc/ Bone Marrow Edema [122]

Other focuses of interest included difference cut-offs for Hounsfield unit of 50 HU or reconstruction algorithm such as material decomposition and calcium substraction [127], [128]. For comparisons the majority of authors used a 1.5 Tesla [129], [127], [123], [124, 125], [130], [128], [131], short tau inversion recovery (STIR) [126], [129], [123], [124, 125], [132], [133], [128] or turbo inversion-recovery magnitude (TIRM) sequences [127], [130], [134]. Figure 20 illustrates the difference between a DE-CT and normal CT.



Figure 20: Patient with a compression fracture with bone marrow edema at L2 and an increased singal intensity in the disc L1/2 based on MRI-STIR. Image from publication by Pumberger M et al [123]

4.5.1 Sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of DE-CT compared to CT

The mean age of patients was 67.6 ± 5.95 years and females were primarily included in 61.4% (n=205/334) of cases. The largest cohort included 76 patients with 774 vertebrae [124, 127]. For overall sensitivity and specificity this was described with 86.2% respectively 91.2% with a PPV of 85.3% and NPV of 91.7%. The overall accuracy was 89.3% and the heterogeneity was found be considerable (I^2>70%) in all cases (Table 14; Figure 20).

Studies	Sen	95% CI	Spec	95% CI	PPV	95% CI	NPV	95% CI	Acc.	95% CI	Incon.
Kaup M	90.3	80.1-96.4	88.5	76.6-95.7	90.3	81.4-95.2	88.5	78.1-94.3	89.5	82.3-94.4	
Reader 1	82.3	70.5-90.8	84.6	71.9-93.1	86.4	76.9-92.4	80.0	69.8-87.4	83.3	75.2-89.7	7
Reader 2	91.9	82.2-97.3	76.9	63.2-87.5	82.6	74.2-88.7	88.9	77.3-95.0	85.1	77.2-91.1	13
Reader 3	93.6	84.3-98.2	90.4	79.0-96.8	92.1	83.4-96.4	92.2	81.9-96.8	92.1	85.5-96.3	2
Reader 4	91.9	82.2-97.3	90.4	79.0-96.8	91.9	83.2-96.3	90.4	80.2-95.6	91.2	84.5-95.7	7
Reader 5	93.5	84.3-98.2	96.2	86.8-99.5	96.7	88.2-99.1	92.6	82.9-97.0	94.7	88.9-98.0	3
Pumberger M	85.1	79.2-89.8	75.2	65.7-83.3	86.8	82.4-90.3	72.4	64.8-78.9	81.7	76.8-85.9	
Neuhaus V	97.8	88.5-100.0	98.4	96.3-99.5	90.0	79.0-95.6	99.7	97.8-100.0	98.3	96.4-99.4	
Reader 1	88.2	76.1-95.6	99.7	98.2-100.0	97.8	86.4-99.7	98.1	96.0-99.1	98.0	96.0-99.2	
Reader 2	91.7	80.0-97.7	99.7	98.2-100.0	97.8	86.1-99.7	98.7	96.7-99.5	98.6	96.7-99.5	
Diekhoff T 2019	79.2	70.3-86.5	70.4	56.4-82.0	84.0	77.5-88.9	63.3	53.4-72.3	76.3	68.9-82.6	
Without prior surgery											
With prior surgery	46.2	26.6-66.6	66.7	22.3-95.7	85.7	64.3-95.2	22.2	12.8-35.8	50.0	31.9-68.1	
Karaca L	89.4	76.9-96.5	98.8	95.6-99.9	95.5	84.1-98.8	97.0	93.3-98.7	96.7	93.2-98.6	
Edema											
Reader 1	91.3	72.0-98.9	99.0	94.6-100.0	95.5	74.8-99.3	98.0	93.0-99.5	97.6	93.1-99.5	
Reader 2	87.5	67.6-97.3	98.4	91.2-100.0	95.5	74.9-99.3	95.2	87.4-98.3	95.3	88.4-98.7	
Bierry G	80.8	60.7-93.5	97.5	93.7-99.3	84.0	66.2-93.4	96.9	93.4-98.6	95.1	91.0-98.0	
Thoracic	84.6	54.6-98.1	97.2	90.3-99.7	84.6	57.9-95.7	97.2	90.7-99.2	95.3	88.4-98.7	

Lumbar	76.9	46.2-95.0	97.7	91.9-99.7	83.3	55.2-95.3	96.6	91.3-98.7	95.0	88.7-98.4	
Diekhoff T 2017	87.5	47.4-99.7	100.0	78.2-100.0	100.0	100.0	93.8	70.6-99.0	95.7	78.1-99.9	
Reader 1	100.0	59.0-100.0	81.3	54.4-96.0	70.0	45.7-86.6	100.	100.0	87.0	66.4-97.2	
							0				
Reader 2	87.5	47.4-99.7	100.0	78.2-100.0	100.0	100.0	93.8	70.6-99.0	95.7	78.1-99.9	
Reader 3	75.0	34.9-96.8	100.0	78.2-100.0	100.0	100.0	88.2	69.3-96.1	91.3	72.0-98.9	
Schwaiger BJ	95.1	83.5-99.4	88.9	65.3-98.6	95.1	84.1-98.6	88.9	67.2-96.9	93.2	83.5-98.1	
Reader 1	92.7	80.1-98.5	88.9	65.3-98.6	95.0	83.7-98.6	84.2	63.9-94.1	91.5	81.3-97.2	
Reader 2	95.1	83.5-99.4	88.9	65.3-98.6	95.1	84.1-98.6	88.9	67.2-96.9	93.2	83.5-98.1	
Foti G	88.5	77.8-95.3	92.3	81.5-97.9	93.1	84.0-97.2	87.3	77.3-93.3	90.3	83.3-95.0	
Reader 1	90.2	79.8-96.3	90.4	79.0-96.8	91.7	82.6-96.2	88.7	78.5-94.4	90.3	83.3-95.0	
Reader 2	91.8	81.6-97.2	90.4	79.0-96.8	91.8	82.7-96.2	90.4	80.2-95.6	91.2	84.2-95.6	
Petritsch B	94.1	71.3-99.9	93.8	88.6-97.1	64.0	48.3-77.2	99.3	95.3-99.9	93.9	89.0-97.0	
Wang CK	63	47.6-76.8	98.5	91.8-100.0	96.7	80.4-99.5	79.3	72.4-84.8	83.9	75.8-90.2	
Na D	87.5	67.6-97.3	81.2	54.4-96.0	87.5	71.4-95.2	81.2	59.4-92.8	85	70.2-94.3	
Before Ca2+ sub											
Engelhard N	83.3	62.6-95.3	53.3	26.6-78.7	74.1	61.8-83.5	66.7	42.1-84.6	71.8	55.1-85.0	
3MD- filtered back	75.0	53.3-90.2	66.7	38.4-88.2	78.3	62.9-88.4	62.5	43.3-78.4	71.8	55.1-85.0	
projection											

3MD - iterative	87.5	67.6-97.3	60.0	32.3-83.7	77.8	64.9-86.9	75.0	49.1-90.3	76.9	60.7-88.9	
reconstruction 1											
3MD - iterative	87.5	67.6-97.3	60.0	32.3-83.7	77.8	64.9-86.9	75.0	49.1-90.3	76.9	60.7-88.9	
reconstruction 2											
3MD - iterative	87.5	67.6-97.3	66.7	38.4-88.2	80.8	66.9-89.7	76.9	52.2-91.1	79.5	63.5-90.7	
reconstruction 3											
2MD – filtered back	4.2	0.1-21.1	93.3	68.1-99.8	50.0	6.3-93.7	37.8	34.2-41.6	38.5	23.4-55.4	
projection											
2MD - iterative	8.3	1.0-27.0	100.0	78.2-100.0	100.0	100.0	40.5	37.7-43.5	43.6	27.8-60.4	
reconstruction 1											
2MD - iterative	20.8	7.1-42.2	100.0	78.2-100.0	100.0	100.0	44.1	39.1-49.2	51.3	34.8-67.6	
reconstruction 2											
2MD - iterative	37.5	18.8-59.4	68.3	51.9-81.9	40.9	25.9-57.9	65.1	56.2-73.1	56.9	44.0-69.2	
reconstruction 3											
Total	86.2	83.4-88.6	91.2	89.4-92.7	85.3	82.9-87.5	91.7	90.2-93.0	89.3	87.8-90.7	

Table 14: Meta-analysis and findings for DE-CT; MD material decomposition; adaptive iterative dose reduction with different iterations: 1 mild. 2 standard. 3 strong; D/BME – Disc/ Bone Marrow Edema; TP – true positive, FP – false positive, FN – false negative, TN – true negative; CI – confidence interval [122]



When looking for conventional CT in the identification of bone marrow respectively, disc edema the pooled sensitivity, specificity, PPN, NPV and accuracy was 81.3%, 80.7%, 74.5%, 86.1% respectively 80.9%. In contrast to DE-CT, the heterogeneity was only moderate for sensitivity (I^2=52%) and considerable for specificity and diagnostics odds (Table 15; Figure 21).

Studies	Sen	95% CI	Spec	95% CI	PPV	95% CI	NPV	95% CI	Accuracy	95% CI
Kaup M	74.6	62.5-84.5	74.5	59.7-86.1	80.7	71.5-87.4	67.3	56.9-76.2	74.6	65.6-82.3
Reader 1	79.0	66.8-88.3	40.4	27.0-54.9	61.3	55.0-67.2	61.8	47.4-74.4	61.4	51.8-70.4
Reader 2	87.1	76.2-94.3	55.8	41.3-69.5	70.1	63.0-76.4	78.4	64.5-87.9	72.8	63.7-80.7
Reader 3	82.3	70.5-90.8	78.8	65.3-88.9	82.3	73.0-88.8	78.8	68.2-86.6	80.7	72.3-87.5
Reader 4	74.2	61.5-84.5	78.8	65.3-88.9	80.7	70.8-87.8	71.9	62.2-80.0	76.3	67.4-83.8
Reader 5	79.0	66.8-88.3	83.0	70.2-91.9	84.5	74.8-90.9	77.2	67.3-84.8	80.9	72.5-87.6
Pumberger M	69.5	62.1-76.3	82.6	74.7-88.9	85.2	79.4-89.6	65.4	59.8-70.6	74.9	69.6-79.8
Neuhaus V	86.0	74.2-93.7	93.6	90.3-96.0	70.0	60.4-78.1	97.4	95.3-98.6	92.4	89.3-94.9
Diekhoff T 2017	72.7	61.3-80.1	70.0	56.8-81.2	84.2	78.1-88.8	53.8	45.8-61.7	71.9	65.0-78.1
Schwaiger BJ	91.2	76.3-98.1	60.0	38.7-78.9	75.6	65.5-83.5	83.3	61.8-93.9	78.0	65.3-87.7
Reader 1	75.6	59.7-87.6	77.8	52.4-93.6	88.6	76.2-94.9	58.3	43.6-71.7	76.3	63.4-86.4
Reader 2	73.2	57.1-85.8	83.3	58.6-96.4	90.9	77.8-96.6	57.7	44.1-70.2	76.3	63.4-86.4
Total	81.3	77.2-84.9	80.7	77.3-83.7	74.5	71.2-77.5	86.1	83.6-88.4	80.9	78.4-83.3

Table 15: Individual findings for sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV and accuracy for Computed Tomographies; D/BME – Disc/ Bone marrow Edema [122]


When comparing both diagnostic tools significant differences were found for specificity (p<0.001) and accuracy (p=0.023), however not for sensitivity (p=0.119).

4.5.2 Implementation of DE-CT in clinics

In patients where MRI is limited by metal implants, availability, cardio-pulmonary instability such as in trauma patients or claustrophobia DE-CT can be a reasonable alternative to MRI. Especially in non-displaced spine trauma where discoligamentous injuries need to be excluded

Hereby, the sensitivity was reported at 99.6%, specificity at 86.7% and accuracy at 97.2% in the lumbar spine with higher accuracy especially in the lower lumbar levels [135].

Other new approaches are the application of reconstruction algorithms after calcium subtraction with higher sensitivity of 91.7% compared to without calcium subtraction of 87.5% [136]. Additionally, three material decomposition algorithm is found to be better than two material decomposition algorithm [137].

Other important factors are the time elapsed between accident and time of imaging where the sensitivity increased if the interval was more than 2 days [138] as well as the interobserver reliability which ranged from 0.51-0.96 [126], [129], [127], [132]. Hereby, a greater inter-observer variation was observed in patients with intact pars interarticularis [139].

4.6 New findings

Based on our studies new findings were observed which can be summarized according to our objectives (chapter 2): Due to increasing popularity in the last years, the studies provide evidences of the logistical difficulties, variety of injury pattern, severity related to the aerial sports as well as related concomitant injuries and therefore subsequent surveillance and treatment. Furthermore, new algorithms can be developed from the current literature on spinopelvic dissociation.

1.a. We showed that most patients suffering from airborne sports injuries were primarily admitted to our hospital (n=155/235, or 67.0%) by helicopter, followed by ambulance and self-admission. For those suffering from spinal injuries the rate was even higher with 81.8% (n=121/148), respectively for the sacral fracture group with 79.5% of cases (n=35/44).

1.b. Initial diagnostics were primarily performed in the resuscitation room in 162 cases (n=162/235, 68.9%) among all patients and since spinal injuries are commonly associated with severe concomitant injuries, 75.0% of all patients suffering from spinal injuries (n=111/148), respectively 81.8% (n=36/44) of patients with sacral injuries were primarily examined in the resuscitation room.

2.a. In total, 235 patients met inclusion criteria at a mean age of 38.7 years (min/ max 18 -74) and predominantly male were affected in 82.6% (n=194/235). Three of the patients had to be resuscitated after onset of a PEA of which two patients deceased. The most common aerial sport performed was Paragliding (n=192, 82.6%, including 13 tandem Paraglider), followed by BASE-jumping, Skydiving (one tandem-Skydiver), Speedflying and Delta flying.

2.b. Especially the spine is affected in 63.0% of cases (n=148/235) suffering from 334 spine injuries due to a high-energy trauma whereas sacral injuries occurred in 18.7% (n=44/235) of patients. Of the 44 sacral fractures only 16 patients suffered from spinopelvic dissociation (n=16/44, 36.4%).

2.c. In the spine group extremity injuries were most common with 32.4% (n=48/148) of cases, following thoracal injuries in 31.8% (n=47/148), head/face injuries in 18.2% (n=27/148) and pelvic lesions (17.6%, n=26/148). In the spinopelvic dissociation group especially concomitant pelvis and spine injuries were observed in 87.5% (n=14/16), respectively 75.0% (n=12/16), followed by extremity injuries in 68.8% (n=11/16), thoracal injuries in 50.0% and intra-abdominal bleedings in 37.5%.

3.a. Overall, the ISS was 16.5 compared to the spine group with 17.9. For the spinopelvic dissociation group a mean ISS of 38.1 was observed. Furthermore, highest ISS was observed at the age between 50 and 60 years with 27.6. When looking for the different aerial sports this was highest in the BASE-jumping group with 21.1 (13.9) followed by Speedflying with 19.8 (8.8) and Delta Flying with 18 (14).

3.b. In the spine group 20.9% suffered from neurological impairment (n=31/148), whereas in the spinopelvic dissociation group this was 25.0% (n=4/16).

4.a. Among all patients, 55 patients (23.4%; n=55/235) required an immediate emergency surgery and in another 61 patients surgery was scheduled within the next few days (26.0%; n=61/235). In addition to the 55 patients who underwent emergency surgery 11 patients were transferred to the intensive care unit. 111 patients were hospitalized on the general ward and 47 patients were treated as outpatient.

4.b. For the spine group, surgery was performed in 54.5% due to instability or neurological impairment. Especially open posterior spondylodesis with 67.9% was performed followed by percutaneous posterior stabilization in 21.8% of cases (n=17/78), and eight stand-alone anterior spondylodesis with cage and plate (n=8/78, 10.3%). For the sacral fracture group a majority of cases was treated conservatively 71.4% (n=20/28), whereas in the spinopelvic dissociation group 14 of 16 patients underwent surgical stabilization. Hereby, percutaneous iliosacral screw stabilization was prioritized in 43.8% (n=7/16) and in another 37.5% of cases a triangular stabilization (n=6/16) either bilateral (n=4) or unilateral in two cases (n=2).

5.a. Patients suffering from spinopelvic dissociation are typically young at a mean age of 31.6 ± 11.6 years and gender is nearly equally distributed with 49.3% being male.

Because of a high rate of neurological impairment in 73.1% (n=258/353) an open reduction was performed in 61.2% (n=216/353) and especially triangular fixation (TF) was used in 68.8% (n=243/353). However, despite the surgical fixation technique the overall union rate was 100% (n=307/307).

5.b. Based on the findings in the literature we recommend open reduction including wide decompression laminectomy within 48 hours if neurological impairment is present and patient is stable enough. For stabilization we recommend triangular posterior fixation which allows best visualization of the fractures and therefore reduction and decompression.

6.a. To identify potentially discoligamentous injuries DE-CT is a good alternative to MRI especially in cardio-pulmonary unstable patients. Hereby, we found an overall sensitivity and specificity of 86.2% respectively 91.2% compared to 81.3% (p=0.119) and 74.5% (p<0.005) for conventional CT. Likewise the sensitivity the accuracy was significant higher for DE-CT with 89.3% compared to 80.9% (p=0.023).

5. Discussion

Based on our hypothesis we noted that patients were rather mid-age at a mean age of 38.7 years and predominantly male patients in 82.6%. Further our hypothesis can be confirmed, that airborne sports patients typically presented with a mean ISS of 16.5 and spine injuries is the most common affected body part in 63.0% (n=148/235). On the other side the incidence of spinopelvic dissociation was 14.0% (n=33/235) including 16 spinopelvic dissociations. Based on the systematic reviews we were able to show that DE-CT is a good alternative especially in potentially unstable patients with an overall accuracy of 89.3% compared to 80.9% for conventional CT. Finally, between 1969 and 2018 only 50 studies were published on spinopelvic dissociations. Based on the studies, we developed an algorithm recommending triangular fixation and open wide decompression laminectomy in patients with neurological impairment within 48 hours after the accident.

5.1 Epidemiology

In traumatized patients approximately 30.2% of patients suffer from spine fractures in high-energy trauma. The overall incidence of spine fractures is described to be 64 per 1 million patients and for sacral transverse fractures between 3% and 5% [140]. U-type fractures are even less frequently with a rate of occurrence in 2.9% from patients with pelvic ring fractures [44]. When looking for sports related spine injuries the most common causes are cycling, winter sports and climbing. Hereby, airborne sports are ranked as number 25 with an incidence of 16.2% [48], [141].

In airborne sports the mortality for BASE jumping is highest with one per 2,317 jumps and for Paragliding 45 per 100,000 jumps, respectively [142], [143]. Especially the thoracolumbar spine, pelvis and lumbopelvic junction are affected. When looking for concomitant neurological impairment this is associated between 10 to 30% of traumatic cases. Hereby, the incidence in neurological impairment is significantly higher for spinopelvic dissociation with 68.1% compared to 11.2% in traumatic spine fractures [144], [145], [39]. Other airborne sports related injuries include thoracic, abdominal,

upper and lower extremity injuries. Rather seldom injuries include vascular injuries such as rupture or dissection which have been reported in case reports [146].

For causes of airborne sports most are related to pilot errors and rapid changes in weather or bad weather conditions in 53.5% respectively 10.1% of cases [147]. Because of a fragile Paragliding parachute, it collapses easily and once it is deflated it is difficult to reinflate and re-balance. This explains, why pilots are especially at risk during take-off which includes the running and inflation phase (35.1%) or landing (48.7%) because of the close distance to the ground [148], [149]. Furthermore, although students are given instruction to activate the reserve parachute, there is not much time to pull it from low height. Likewise, in Skydiving a proper landing technique is pivotal to avoid injuries [150].

Comparing our results with the current literature we noted an increase in age from 37.0 years to 39.4 years in airborne sport pilots [51], [151]. Additionally, the ISS was much higher than previously reported with 17.9 compared to 8.0 [51]. This may be caused by a selection bias since we performed our study at a level-1 trauma center where preferably polytraumatized patients are admitted to by rescue helicopters. When looking for the individual aerial sports performed, highest ISS was observed for BASE-jumping (21.1), followed by Speedflying (19.8), Delta flying (18.0) and Paragliding (16.0). This may be caused due to the different positioning of pilots. Paragliding athletes are located in a sitting position and travel at a slower speed than in other disciplines. Furthermore, the parachute is most instable in starting and landing attempts which rather causes a fall from low height with protection to head and thorax, whereas in BASE-jumping and Speedflying pilots want to fly as fast as possible and taking more risks for the experience. This also explains, why BASE-jumper and Speedflyer are rather of young age (30.8 years for BASE-jumping, respectively 33.3 years for Speedflying). For age, highest ISS was 27.6 in the age group between 50 and 60 years. This may be related to the level of experience who are willing to take more risks and if any accidents occurs these are more likely to suffer from severe injuries. In addition, those patients may have osteopenia and therefore are more vulnerable for severe injuries. On the other side, older patients are more careful and less willing to take risks for extreme maneuvers. In contrast to airborne sports, the overall ISS was found to be 2.2 (2.2) with a mortality rate of 0.03% and the

incidence of severe injuries in winter sports was 0.229 per million rides per year [152]. Based on the sort of sport, the type of injury may differ. In Paragliding and Speedflying especially the spine is affected with 51.5% respectively 45.8% of cases [150], [153]. Skiing and contact sports athletes are suffering more from head injuries, whereas rock climbers preferably break the spine and sacrum [154]. In addition, a shifted ratio in gender can be observed related to the ISS group. With increase in ISS, males are more affected with 1.69:1 at ISS between 12-14, 1.86:1 at ISS between 16-24 and 1.95:1 at ISS more than 24 [155].

In motorcycling the age is younger, 38.7 years and the ISS is 7.7 ± 6.7 . For the location of injuries a peak was identified for rib fractures and maxillofacial trauma (2.5%, respectively 11.6%) [156]. In snowboarding the lower as well as upper extremities are at risk such as anterior cruciate ligament tears, distal radius fractures and knee sprains. Furthermore, closed head injuries are common, with only few lumbar strains without fractures [157]. In terms of vertebral fracture the most affected vertebral body is located at the thoracolumbar region [48], [158], [154]. In cycling or motocross, the cervical spine (C5/6) is most often injured from falling to front over the handlebar resulting in an hyperextension.

5.2 Trauma management

The ABCDE algorithm allows a prompt, feasible, fast assessment and precise identification of acute life-threatening injuries. If a cardiopulmonary resuscitation is required, a PEA can be found most commonly, especially in polytraumatized patients rather than a myocardial infarction or asystolia. For cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), CPR devices should be discussed critically. The use of the autopulse device requires a secure placement to reduce iatrogenic injuries such as organ lacerations and hinders ventilation [159], [56] because of the thoracic compression which we reported in our study 'Dead or Dying?' [160]. In some cases this may worsen the situation, why manual CPR should be prioritized. For precise monitoring of blood pressure an arterial access is helpful which allows invasive registration, although, it is time intensive. In

addition, in unstable patients an early transfusion protocol should be started since the blood loss is rather underestimated by the treating physician [160].

Besides a focused assessment with sonography for trauma a LODOX which takes approximately 13 seconds and allows to prioritize injuries. The level of radiation is 94% lower than a conventional X-ray [59], [161] and life-threating as well as dislocated injuries can be therefore excluded and triaging patients accurately [60], [162]. Hereby, the overrating of triage is much higher than 50%, whereas undertriage is less than 5% especially in mass disaster [163]. According to Rosedale, it lowered undertriage rates by 10.8% and overtriage rates by 4% [164].

In the further management FAST is performed which requires experienced readers, although until today it is not clearly defined. In 1999, it was specified for someone who performed at least 200 supervised sonographies with a high learning curve especially during the first 10 with high accuracy after 25 to 50 examinations [165], [166]. When comparing the sensitivity of FAST for detection of solid organ injuries this was nearly double for the experienced group compared to the less experienced ones [61], [167]. The accuracy in experienced readers following the quality assessment of diagnostics were investigated by Lee et al. based on a systematic review. The authors showed a sensitivity of 92.1% (87.8%-95.6%), specificity of 98.7% (96.0%-99.9%), with positive predictive value of 90.7% (70.0%-98.0%), respectively negative predictive value of 98.9% (98.1%-99.5%) for intra-abdominal injuries compared to the gold standard, a CT scan [168].

When comparing X-rays of the thorax and pelvis compared to CT, the CT scan has become the gold standard because of the easiness and quick availability, which enables to exclude fractures, organ lesions and severe bleedings (brain, abdominal, thoracal, pelvic) with an angiography. For scanning it takes about 30 seconds and shows only few artefacts [169]. Furthermore, plain radiography shows less accuracy compared to CT scan in poly trauma management. For cervical spine injuries CT scan identifies approximately 37.5% which would have been missed otherwise in X-ray. For example for thoracolumbar fractures the incidence is lower with 14.0% of cases [169]. Especially patients who consumed alcohol may not suffer from pain, thus CT scan should be performed [170].

In suspected soft tissue damages to the ligaments and tendons of the spine as well as spinal cord the most sensitive diagnostic tool is the MRI and the dual-energy CT [122]. However, MRI scan is not suitable for the acute trauma care setting since it takes up to 30min for a whole spine MRI and it is unknown if the polytraumatized patient has any magnetic implants. In contrast DE-CT is fast accessible, time saving and can be used in the emergency department if available. Studies have shown a high diagnostic accuracy with sensitivity of 86.2% and specificity of 91.2% [123], [171], [122]. Authors therefore concluded that patients who are unable to undergo MRI could benefit from this capability. However, there are some limitations. Since DE-CT bases the reconstructions the age of patients may have a major impact due to the decrease in water content in the nucleus pulposus. The collagen content is also affected by the affected region as this is higher in thoracic disks compared to lumbar ones. As well and the readers experience has a major influence [123], [172].

5.3 Treatment

After diagnostics the correct treatment is essential. Since spine fractures comprise an estimated 6% of all fractures, the indication and surgical timing is very important to maximize the functional outcome. Therefore, O'Boynick et al. investigated the necessity of early surgery [173]. In total, 2,000 neurosurgeons were interviewed and asked about early versus delayed surgery and 80% of neurosurgeons supported early fixation but less than half of the group recommended fixation within 24 hours of admission [174]. The authors attributed the difference with lack of resources during weekend and overnight. Furthermore, a decrease in long-term paralysis especially in patients with spinal cord injuries was observed in 33% of patients. Other than that pulmonary complications such as pneumonia were reduced. One predicting factor was the number of cases performed at the institution [175]. Besides functional outcome and complication rate a decrease in costs can be seen for early surgical thoracolumbar trauma surgery compared to delayed ones. This ranged between \$40,000 and \$80,000 per patient in 2013 [173].

A variety of different fixation methods have been described. The most common type of fixation is posterior stabilization which can be performed either open or percutaneously.

An anterior fixation is especially in highly comminuted and unstable fractures recommended. Overall, the anterior stabilization shows better maintenance of thoracic kyphosis compared to posterior stabilization [176]. For posterior screw stabilization, different techniques exist. These include free hand pedicle as well as robot-assisted screw placement.

Besides pedicle screw placement – open, percutaneously or robot assisted –, current research focuses on cortical bone trajectory (CBT) [177], [178]. In theory, these have improved initial fixation by optimizing contact of the cortical bone as well as reduce the risk of neurovascular injuries because of only little soft tissue dissection [179]. The insertion of the CBT starts at the junction between the lateral pars interarticularis and superior articular process. In our opinion, this technique should rather be used for revision procedure such as after screw cut out or implant failure than for primary fixation (Figure 22). In addition, as shown in one of our studies, a learning curve for new techniques such as robot assisted screw placement needs to be considered [180].



Figure 23: Cortical Bone Trajectory (red arrows) versus traditional pedicle screw placement (black arrows) [181]

Regardless the method of screw placement, in patients with traumatic spinal stenosis an additional decompression such as laminectomy or application of systemic steroids should be performed. Steroids, methylprednisolone application within 8 hours of acute spinal cord injury has shown improved neurological outcomes compared to placebo 1 year after accident, although recent studies did not show any benefits from it [182], [183], [184]. Another medical drug is GM-1 ganglioside which may have significant benefit in outcome 6 months after, however, the literature is limited [185]. If no pharmaceutical

application is thought there are ongoing discussions on the timing as well as necessity of surgical decompression. Some authors recommend to perform acute decompression [186], whereas Cengiz et al. found no significant neurologic benefit of cervical spine cord decompression between less than 72 hours and more than 5 days after accident [187]. Furthermore, a systematic review suggested even decompression within 24h to reduce complications and improve neurological outcome [188].

Nowadays, there is clinical evidence that early surgical decompression within 24 hours, and especially within 8 hours of acute spinal cord injury is safe, more cost- effective, shows better neurological recovery and reduces secondary injury mechanisms [188]. Besides the traditional form of total laminectomy and flavectomy, intradural decompression – durotomy – has been reported [189]. The risk of complication is much higher including pseudo-meningoceles, low-pressure headaches and quadriplegia although it is rare [190], [191]. Currently, some authors hypothesize that the damage of the spinal cord comes especially from the secondary injury rather than the initial accident and early decompression allows to reduce the risk of secondary injury [188], [192], [193].

For spinopelvic dissociation the procedures vary from conservative treatment to percutaneous iliosacral screw fixation, posterior tension band, bridge plating or triangular spinopelvic fixation [87]. Conservative treatment should only be considered in patients who are unable to non-weightbear or are bedbound for at least three months and would not tolerate surgery [96], [194]. Further variations in treatment include iliosacral screw fixation, external fixation [108], ventrodorsal stabilization [30] or triangular fixation with cage implantation (Figure 23) [84]. Hereby, iliosacral screw fixtion can be divided into trans-iliosacral or two iliosacral screws. Regardless the method of choice for the osteosynthesis of spinopelvic dissociation the injury healing rate – fusion of the spinopelvic dissociation and radiographic union of the sacral fracture – is reported with 100%.



Figure 24: Methods of spinopelvic dissociation fixation; a) iliosacral screw fixation, b) bilateral triangular fixation, c) combined triangular and iliosacral screw fixation [70]

When looking for biomechanical studies under cyclic loading the most stable technique and best results can be found for triangular spinopelvic fixation compared to iliosacral screw fixation [76], [195]. The overall complication rate is at approximately 29.9% [75], [196]. This includes healing respectively fusion rate with 9.3% [197], [198], infection with 36.5%, implant failure in 25.0% and wound healing issues in 14.6%. Other rare incidents may include acute bleeding from the superior gluteal artery, deep vein thrombosis or progression of kyphosis. To lower complication rate such as blood loss and infection rate percutaneous spinopelvic fixation is recommended, although no difference in operating time was identified [81]. In contrast, this technique does limit the reduction in displaced fractures with a kyphosis of more than 30° which is typically the case in Utype fractures [44], [121], [115]. However, the infection rate correlates with the type of fixation which was significantly higher for open compared to percutenous osteosynthesis (3.4% to 5.9%) [197], [198]. One study described a significant reduction in blood loss without other differences in complication rate and surgery time for percutaneous procedures [81]. Other risk factors are the necessity of ICU hospitalization which is most likely in these kind of injuries as they are correlated with high energetic traumas and polytraumatized patients [199].

Because of the high rate of neurologic deficits a reduction with or without decompression should be considered in patients. For fractures with complete stenosis of the spinal canal

or intraforaminal fragments the method of choice is a sacral laminectomy regardless of the presence of neurological impairment [82], [80]. In transverse sacral fracture, root transection is present in about 35% of cases [200]. In regards of time the decompression should be performed as early as possible (within 24 hours) to lower the complication rate and improve recovery of neurological deficits [144], [145]. Therefore, we developed and published an algorithm for the treatment of spinopelvic dissociation (Figure 24).



Figure 25: Treatment algorithm for patients with spinopelvic dissociation [70]

5.4 Anticoagulation after spinal injuries

After surgery with or without acute spinal cord injury anticoagulation is required to prevent a thromboembolic event. Especially people with spinal cord injury are at risk for

deep venous thrombosis because of neurological dysfunction, immobilization, intimal injury and hypercoagulability. On the other side, surgery causes extensive tissue damage which may cause hemorrhage or bleeding which could be worsen by initiating early anticoagulation [201]. The Paralyzed Veterans of America developed guidelines which recommend the early use of mechanical compression devices, followed by low-molecular weight heparin including intermittent pneumatic compression. In polytraumatized patients who suffered from intracranial bleeding, perispinal hematoma and/ or hemothorax the usage of pharmaceutical anticoagulation is forbidden until the patient is stabilized. In those patients a cava vein filter may be applied if an acute bleeding persists for more than 72 hours [202]. Other possibilities include rotating beds, electrical stimulation or combination of different modalities. Once pharmaceutical anticoagulation is started, a three-month duration should be performed [203], [204], [205].

5.5 Rehabilitation

Finally, after primary care in the emergency room including diagnostics and medical examination followed by operative or conservative treatment and prevention from further complications such as thromboembolism, rehabilitation is essential. Ideally this should start once a patient is stabilized in hospital and allows to prevent from secondary complications including thromboembolism or decubitus. The aim is to improve patient's independence and activity, return to daily and recreational activities and finally reintegration into society.

In the acute phase the focus is on prevention of secondary complications, psychological rehabilitation, promoting neurorecovery and improving function, whereas in the chronic phase compensatory and assistive approaches are helpful. Since spinal cord injury confronts patients with life-altering events this is a long lasting process [206], [207]. Because of the complexity and variability in injuries no optimal, standardized strategy exists. Individual adjustments are required and multiple treatments have to be combined. It should be focused on the prevention of ulcers, preservation of limb function, respiratory management, sexuality and bladder management [205], [208]. This may include psychological treatment, physical training, environmental adaptations, pharmaceutical

adjustments including painkillers or bronchodilative, alpha blockers medications, mechanical ventilation or even further surgeries – i.e. transurethral sphincterotomy, tendotomies, tendon transfers, indwelling catherization. It has to be mentioned that the rehabilitation process is a lifelong process which requires intensive and multidisciplinary rehabilitation [205].

5.6 Airborne sports injury prevention

The presented studies illustrate the most common injuries resulting from high-energy airborne related trauma and correlated issues. In the recent years, protectors have been developed and rescue parachutes are recommended for Paragliding. These protectors can decrease the incidence of spine and sacral injuries even though most injuries occur during the take-off and landing phase. Furthermore, new special glides were developed which are wider and allow more stability. These ones should be considered especially for beginners and intermediates.

Besides improvement in technologies and protectors first responders such as pilots and associates have to be trained about the type of injuries, severity, risk factors and life support. This enables a prompt and sufficient identification of life threatening disease, primary stabilization and reduces the risk of further complications from unnecessary movement until the paramedics arrive at the scene.

5.7 Algorithm in airborne sports patients

Based on the findings of our individual studies and the extensive literature search outlined in this thesis we were able to develop an algorithm for patients following airborne sports injuries with focus on spine and spinopelvic dissociation (Figure 25).



Figure 26: Algorithm of aerial sports accidents and subsequent treatment based on the findings in this thesis. Prevention should be performed prior performing airborne sports and athletes should be aware of the risks. If an accident occurs a helicopter should be requested as pilots are typically landing in difficult area allowing quicker search and admission to the hospital. Patients should be admitted through the trauma room involving neurosurgeons, trauma and orthopaedic surgeons, interventional radiologists. If the patient is stable surgery is recommended where patients with any neurological impairment less than 48 hours or severe deficit greater than 48 hours is recommended.

5.8 Limitations

All studies have some limitations which should be mentioned. Since the studies are of retrospective design no further mid- to longterm follow-up was assessed. The airborne sports studies were performed at a level 1 trauma center why especially severe injured patients are transferred to this center, whereas patients with isolated trauma of less severity are admitted to smaller hospitals close to the place of accident. Moreover, some patients were transferred from smaller centers. Since we only investigated the intrahospital management, injury pattern, mortality and subsequent treatment, no conclusion on the overall mortality was made as some patients may have died at the trauma site. Although the different classifications AO Spine, Denis, Roy Camille are good and reliable there is a low inter-observer reliability. For the AO spine classification with thoracolumbar fractures this was reported to be between 0.69 and 0.90 [209]. Similar results are likely for the other classifications. To minimize the bias all X-rays, LODOX imaging and CT scans were evaluated by the author of this thesis and the articles. In patients with suspected neurological impairment, routinely no MRI performed since this is a time consuming diagnostic tool to identify the predisposition of disc hernia and therefore pre-existing neurological impairment such as dysesthesia were difficult to identify. To minimize this bias a comprehensive review with the patient was performed once they were awake and responsive. For spinopelvic dissociation because of the rare nature, there is a dearth in literature and only little is known. When looking for the systematic review on spinopelvic dissociation, most studies were case reports in 38% (n=19/50) and only 16 articles presented between 1 and 10 patients (32%, n=16/50).

6. Conclusions

Our studies investigate the airborne sports related injuries as well as high-energetic related spine fractures which are underreported and require early, prompt and appropriate treatment. Additionally, we were able to show that DE-CT is a good diagnostic tool which should be implemented in the emergency setting to diagnose discoligamentous spine injuries. The pooled sensitivity and specificity was found to be 86.2% respectively 91.2% with a PPV of 85.3% and NPV of 91.7%. The overall accuracy was 89.3% and the heterogeneity was found be considerable (I^2>70%) in all cases. Additionally, the sensitivity and accuracy was significantly higher compared to conventional CT for bone marrow and disc edema. As also outlined in the systematic review on spinopelvic dissociation it is a rare injury where patients suffer from significantly more severe concomitant injuries and therefore higher ISS with 38.1 in the spinopelvic dissociation group compared to other patients. For aerial sports the ISS was highest in BASE-jumping with 21.1 which requires highest awareness of all treating physicians to provide prompt and sufficient diagnosis and subsequent treatment. The incidence of spine injuries was found to be 63.0% of which especially the thoracolumbar region was affected and A0 fractures were most commonly observed. Sacral fractures were less common with an incidence of 18.7% however, 36.4% of cases suffered from spinopelvic dissociation. This incidence was significantly higher compared to the literature. Neurological deficit was observed in 25% of patients with spinopelvic fractures which was significantly lower compared to the literature with 68.1% in mean based on our meta-analysis. In spine fractures this was as low as 20.9%. Furthermore, we recognized limitations in literature on the trauma algorithms, treatment algorithm especially for spinopelvic dissociation and post hospital management. Because of the lack of treatment algorithm and the knowledge we gained in the individual studies we were able to developed an algorithm for the diagnostics and treatment in airborne sports patients and published a surgeon's decision making for the fixation technique and in the necessity of additional decompression in spinopelvic dissociation. Further research is required to develop guidelines not only for patients who suffer from spine injuries or spinopelvic dissociation but also more general for polytraumatized patients, the postoperative setting and the rehabilitation process.

Our results can be used to sensitize emergency physicians and offer prevention courses to athletes to make them aware and informed about the potential risks of airborne sports. This allows to improve and facilitates the recognition of discoligamentous injuries, current standards in treatment - the necessity of new ones compared to established ones -, rehabilitation, postoperative care as well as the trauma management. If a BASEjumping accident is reported and admitted to the hospital, the emergency physicians must warrant for life-threatening injuries and subsequent emergency interventions to avoid any delay. Improvements in trauma management include a good location of the resuscitation room close to intensive care unit, operative room and helicopter spaces and a wellrehearsed, interdisciplinary team with one resuscitation room manager to facilitate a structured, prompt and early diagnosis with a low dose (full) body X-ray, Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography and focused assessment with sonography for trauma (FAST). This could be a resuscitation room with a Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography and operative space for life-saving measures such as external fixation of the pelvis and limbs, pelvic packing, thoracic or ventricle drainages as well as in unstable patients the possibility for thoracotomy or laparotomy. Once the patient is stabilized an interdisciplinary intensive care treatment is required including neurosurgeons, orthopaedic and trauma surgeons, specialists for internal medicine as well as intensive care medicine, and if possible physical medicine and rehabilitation physicians. This will enable an early initiation of rehabilitation and postoperative care including mobilization and psychological counseling.

7. Summary in English

Introduction: High energetic airborne sports accidents can cause severe injuries such as spine injuries as well as spinopelvic dissociation however; there is a dearth in literature.

Purpose: The purpose of this thesis was to investigate (1) the type and severity of different injuries (2) with focus on spinal fractures and (3) spinopelvic dissociation in airborne sports. Furthermore, we were interested in the trauma management including (4) the specificity, sensitivity and accuracy of DE-CT for discoligamentous injuries and (5) performed a literature search on spinopelvic dissociation investigating the etiology and variety of treatments to establish a treatment algorithm.

Methods: Therefore, a retrospective chart review of patients who were admitted to a level I trauma center between 2010 and 2017 was performed. All charts and radiographic findings were analysed and classified by the author of this thesis. Finally two systematic reviews were conducted to analyze the current knowledge on spinopelvic dissociation and Dual-Energy-Computed Tomography.

Results: In total, 235 patients were admitted to the emergency department due to an airborne injury at a mean age of 38.7 years. In total, 148 patients (148/235, 63.0%) suffered from 334 spinal fractures and 5 spinal contusions and 44 patients (18.7%) presented with sacral fractures, including 16 spinopelvic dissociations (36.4%). For treatment 78 patients (54.5%, or 78/148) with spine injuries and 87.5% of spinopelvic dissociation patients underwent subsequent surgical stabilization. Because of the limited literature on spinopelvic dissociation and only 50 publications investigating 379 patients we developed an algorithm for treatment. On DE-CT a total of 13 studies were found which showed a significantly higher pooled sensitivity and accuracy and positive trend in specificity.

Conclusions: Highly severe, even life-threatening injuries in airborne sports such as thoracolumbar fractures are reported. Additionally, the incidence of spinopelvic dissociation per sacral fractures (36.4%, 16/44) is extremely high. To facilitate diagnostics and treatment DE-CT should be used in patients with suspected discoligamentous injuries and we developed an algorithm for the setting of airborne sports patients.

8. Summary in Hungarian

Bevezetés: A nagy energiájú légi sportbalesetekben olyan súlyos sérüléseket elszenvedhetnek mint a gerinc sérülések és spinopelvicus disszosziációk, az ilyen sérülésekkel kapcsolatos nemzetközi irodalom azonban nem túl gazdag.

Cél: A légi sportban a sérülések típusának és súlyosságának vizsgálata (1), különös figyelmet szentelve a csigolya töréseknek(2) és a spinopelvicus disszociációknak (3) Cél továbbá a traumatológiai eljárás során a discoligamentáris sérülésekben a DE-CT specificitásának(4) szenzitivitásának(5) és megállapítása, illetve egy olyan irodalmi áttekintés készítése mely a spinopelvicus disszociáció etiológiájának és különböző kezelési eljárásainak áttekintésével alkalmas egy kezelési algoritmus kialakítására.

Módszerek: Retrospektíven vizsgálatam azokat a betegeket, akiket egy I. szintű traumatológiai centrumban elláttak 2010 és 2017 között. A betegek adatlapjainak és radiológiai felvételeinek kiértékelését a tézis szerzője végezte. Végül két irodalmi áttekintésben foglaltam össze a Dual Energy CT használatát spinopelvicus disszosziációkban.

Eredmények: összesen 235 sportolót, (átlag életkor 38,7 év) láttak el az egyetem sürgősségi részlegén légi sportban elszenvedett sérülések miatt. 148 beteg szenvedett gerinc sérülést (148/235, 63,0%), ebből 334 csigolya törést és 5 gerinc zúzódást, 44 beteg (18,7%) szenvedett csigolya törést a sacralis régióban, ebből 16 járt spinopelvikus disszociációval (36,4%) 78 gerinc sérült beteg (54,5% vagy 78/148) gerincét stabilizálták operatív úton. A rendelkezésre álló csekély irodalmi adat (50 cikk mely összesen 379 beteget vizsgált) miatt kialakítottunk egy kezelési algoritmust. A DE-CT-n végzett irodalmi áttekintés során a tanulmányozott 13 cikk magasabb szenzitivitást pontosságot és egy pozitív trended állapított meg a specificitás területén is.

Következtetések: Rendkívül súlyos, akár még az életet is veszélyeztető sérülésekkel mint a thoracolumbalis szakasz töréseivel - is találkozhatunk a légi sportokban. A spinopelvicus disszosziáció sacralis csigolyaszakasz töréseihez viszonyított aránya (36.4% 16/44) is rendkívül magas. A megfelelő diagnosis és kezelés elősegítése céljából DE-CT használata javasolt azoknál a betegeknél ahol discoligamentáris sérülésre gyanakszunk, evvel kapcsolatban kialakítottunk egy kezelési algoritmust a légi sportban elszenvedett sérülésekhez.

9. Bibliography

1. McBroom RJ, Hayes WC, Edwards WT, Goldberg RP, White AA, 3rd. (1985) Prediction of vertebral body compressive fracture using quantitative computed tomography. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 67: 1206-1214.

2. Fazzalari NL, Parkinson IH, Fogg QA, Sutton-Smith P. (2006) Antero-postero differences in cortical thickness and cortical porosity of T12 to L5 vertebral bodies. Joint Bone Spine, 73: 293-297.

3. Hulme PA, Boyd SK, Ferguson SJ. (2007) Regional variation in vertebral bone morphology and its contribution to vertebral fracture strength. Bone, 41: 946-957.

4. Zhao FD, Pollintine P, Hole BD, Adams MA, Dolan P. (2009) Vertebral fractures usually affect the cranial endplate because it is thinner and supported by less-dense trabecular bone. Bone, 44: 372-379.

5. Roberts S, McCall IW, Menage J, Haddaway MJ, Eisenstein SM. (1997) Does the thickness of the vertebral subchondral bone reflect the composition of the intervertebral disc? Eur Spine J, 6: 385-389.

6. Adams MA, Green TP, Dolan P. (1994) The strength in anterior bending of lumbar intervertebral discs. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 19: 2197-2203.

Green TP, Adams MA, Dolan P. (1993) Tensile properties of the annulus fibrosusII. Ultimate tensile strength and fatigue life. Eur Spine J, 2: 209-214.

8. Setton LA, Zhu W, Weidenbaum M, Ratcliffe A, Mow VC. (1993) Compressive properties of the cartilaginous end-plate of the baboon lumbar spine. J Orthop Res, 11: 228-239.

9. Green TP, Allvey JC, Adams MA. (1994) Spondylolysis. Bending of the inferior articular processes of lumbar vertebrae during simulated spinal movements. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 19: 2683-2691.

Adams MA, Dolan P, Hutton WC. (1988) The lumbar spine in backward bending.
 Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 13: 1019-1026.

11. Rasoulinejad P, McLachlin SD, Bailey SI, Gurr KR, Bailey CS, Dunning CE. (2012) The importance of the posterior osteoligamentous complex to subaxial cervical spine stability in relation to a unilateral facet injury. Spine J, 12: 590-595.

12. Nadeau M, McLachlin SD, Bailey SI, Gurr KR, Dunning CE, Bailey CS. (2012) A biomechanical assessment of soft-tissue damage in the cervical spine following a unilateral facet injury. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 94: e156.

13. Adams MA, Hutton WC. (1980) The effect of posture on the role of the apophysial joints in resisting intervertebral compressive forces. J Bone Joint Surg Br, 62: 358-362.

14. Adams MA, Dolan P. (2011) Biomechanics of vertebral compression fractures and clinical application. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg, 131: 1703-1710.

15. Dolan P, Earley M, Adams MA. (1994) Bending and compressive stresses acting on the lumbar spine during lifting activities. J Biomech, 27: 1237-1248.

16. Perey O. (1957) Fracture of the vertebral end-plate in the lumbar spine; an experimental biochemical investigation. Acta Orthop Scand Suppl, 25: 1-101.

17. Brinckmann P, Biggemann M, Hilweg D. (1989) Prediction of the compressive strength of human lumbar vertebrae. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 14: 606-610.

Hutton WC, Adams MA. (1982) Can the lumbar spine be crushed in heavy lifting?
 Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 7: 586-590.

19. Yoganandan N, Larson SJ, Gallagher M, Pintar FA, Reinartz J, Droese K. (1994) Correlation of microtrauma in the lumbar spine with intraosseous pressures. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 19: 435-440.

20. Adams MA, McNally DS, Dolan P. (1996) 'Stress' distributions inside intervertebral discs. The effects of age and degeneration. J Bone Joint Surg Br, 78: 965-972.

21. Magerl F, Aebi M, Gertzbein SD, Harms J, Nazarian S. (1994) A comprehensive classification of thoracic and lumbar injuries. Eur Spine J, 3: 184-201.

22. Janssen I, Sollmann N, Barz M, Baum T, Schaller K, Zimmer C, Ryang YM, Kirschke JS, Meyer B. (2021) Occult Disco-Ligamentous Lesions of the Subaxial c-Spine-A Comparison of Preoperative Imaging Findings and Intraoperative Site Inspection. Diagnostics (Basel), 11.

23. Henninger B, Kaser V, Ostermann S, Spicher A, Zegg M, Schmid R, Kremser C, Krappinger D. (2020) Cervical Disc and Ligamentous Injury in Hyperextension Trauma: MRI and Intraoperative Correlation. J Neuroimaging, 30: 104-109.

24. Meinberg EG, Agel J, Roberts CS, Karam MD, Kellam JF. (2018) Fracture and Dislocation Classification Compendium-2018. J Orthop Trauma, 32 Suppl 1: S1-S170.

25. Vaccaro AR, Koerner JD, Radcliff KE, Oner FC, Reinhold M, Schnake KJ, Kandziora F, Fehlings MG, Dvorak MF, Aarabi B, Rajasekaran S, Schroeder GD, Kepler CK, Vialle LR. (2016) AOSpine subaxial cervical spine injury classification system. Eur Spine J, 25: 2173-2184.

26. Purser DW. (1969) Displaced fracture of the sacrum. Report of a case. J Bone Joint Surg Br, 51: 346-347.

27. Roy-Camille R, Saillant G, Gagna G, Mazel C. (1985) Transverse fracture of the upper sacrum. Suicidal jumper's fracture. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 10: 838-845.

28. Yi C, Hak DJ. (2012) Traumatic spinopelvic dissociation or U-shaped sacral fracture: a review of the literature. Injury, 43: 402-408.

29. Bents RT, France JC, Glover JM, Kaylor KL. (1996) Traumatic spondylopelvic dissociation. A case report and literature review. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 21: 1814-1819.

30. Formby PM, Wagner SC, Kang DG, Van Blarcum GS, Lehman RA, Jr. (2016) Operative management of complex lumbosacral dissociations in combat injuries. Spine J, 16: 1200-1207.

31. Denis F, Davis S, Comfort T. (1988) Sacral fractures: an important problem. Retrospective analysis of 236 cases. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 227: 67-81.

32. Park YS, Baek SW, Kim HS, Park KC. (2012) Management of sacral fractures associated with spinal or pelvic ring injury. J Trauma Acute Care Surg, 73: 239-242.

33. Konig MA, Jehan S, Boszczyk AA, Boszczyk BM. (2012) Surgical management of U-shaped sacral fractures: a systematic review of current treatment strategies. Eur Spine J, 21: 829-836.

34. Sullivan MP, Smith HE, Schuster JM, Donegan D, Mehta S, Ahn J. (2014) Spondylopelvic dissociation. Orthop Clin North Am, 45: 65-75.

35. Morel-Lavallee M. Traumatismes fermes aux membres inferieurs. Hauquelin: Paris, France; 1848.

36. Wood KB, Bohn D, Mehbod A. (2005) Anterior versus posterior treatment of stable thoracolumbar burst fractures without neurologic deficit: a prospective, randomized study. J Spinal Disord Tech, 18 Suppl: S15-23.

 Chou S, Grover A, LeBoff MS. (2000) New Osteoporotic/Vertebral Compression Fractures. Endotext. 38. Wang H, Zhang Y, Xiang Q, Wang X, Li C, Xiong H, Zhou Y. (2012) Epidemiology of traumatic spinal fractures: experience from medical university-affiliated hospitals in Chongqing, China, 2001-2010. J Neurosurg Spine, 17: 459-468.

39. Leucht P, Fischer K, Muhr G, Mueller EJ. (2009) Epidemiology of traumatic spine fractures. Injury, 40: 166-172.

40. Wang H, Xiang Q, Li C, Zhou Y. (2013) Epidemiology of traumatic cervical spinal fractures and risk factors for traumatic cervical spinal cord injury in China. J Spinal Disord Tech, 26: E306-313.

41. Vinas FC. (2020) [Lumbar Spine Fractures and Dislocations eMedicine Specialties.

42. Castillejos MAC, Cadena JL, Romero RMSV, Rodriguez EB, Luna LM, Zetina CC. (2018) Frequency of vertebral fractures in high-energy trauma. Colunna/Columna, 17: 147-150.

43. Young AJ, Wolfe L, Tinkoff G, Duane TM. (2015) Assessing Incidence and Risk Factors of Cervical Spine Injury in Blunt Trauma Patients Using the National Trauma Data Bank. Am Surg, 81: 879-883.

44. Nork SE, Jones CB, Harding SP, Mirza SK, Routt ML, Jr. (2001) Percutaneous stabilization of U-shaped sacral fractures using iliosacral screws: technique and early results. J Orthop Trauma, 15: 238-246.

45. Vinas CF. (2009) Lumbar spine fractures and dislocations. eMedicine Specialties.

46. Boden BP, Breit I, Beachler JA, Williams A, Mueller FO. (2013) Fatalities in high school and college football players. Am J Sports Med, 41: 1108-1116.

47. Corra S, Girardi P, de Giorgi F, Braggion M. (2012) Severe and polytraumatic injuries among recreational skiers and snowboarders: incidence, demographics and injury patterns in South Tyrol. Eur J Emerg Med, 19: 69-72.

48. Gosteli G, Yersin B, Mabire C, Pasquier M, Albrecht R, Carron PN. (2016) Retrospective analysis of 616 air-rescue trauma cases related to the practice of extreme sports. Injury, 47: 1414-1420.

49. Silva L, Fernanda Bellolio M, Smith EM, Daniels DJ, Lohse CM, Campbell RL.
(2017) Motocross-associated head and spine injuries in adult patients evaluated in an emergency department. Am J Emerg Med, 35: 1485-1489.

50. Stohrer M, Franke D. (1972) [Nail osteosynthesis of distal extra-articular fractures of the lower leg]. Monatsschr Unfallheilkd Versicher Versorg Verkehrsmed, 75: 312-319.

51. Hasler RM, Huttner HE, Keel MJ, Durrer B, Zimmermann H, Exadaktylos AK, Benneker LM. (2012) Spinal and pelvic injuries in airborne sports: a retrospective analysis from a major Swiss trauma centre. Injury, 43: 440-445.

52. Schulze W, Richter J, Schulze B, Esenwein SA, Buttner-Janz K. (2002) Injury prophylaxis in paragliding. Br J Sports Med, 36: 365-369.

53. Ronca D. (13 April 2009) [How Paragliding Works HowStuffWorks.com <<u>https://adventure.howstuffworks.com/paragliding.htm</u>>.

54. (Rega in brief) [Rega missions 2001-2016 <u>www.rega.ch/en/about-us/in-brief.aspx</u>.

55. Nedeltchev K, Arnold M, Brekenfeld C, Isenegger J, Remonda L, Schroth G, Mattle HP. (2003) Pre- and in-hospital delays from stroke onset to intra-arterial thrombolysis. Stroke, 34: 1230-1234.

56. Liu QY, Li CS. (2010) [The effect of the external chest compression appliance (AutoPulse) on cardiac arrest in the emergency department and influence on blood gas and N-terminal B-type natriuretic peptide]. Zhongguo Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue, 22: 660-662.

57. Paradis NA, Martin GB, Goetting MG, Rivers EP, Feingold M, Nowak RM. (1992) Aortic pressure during human cardiac arrest. Identification of pseudoelectromechanical dissociation. Chest, 101: 123-128.

58. Schmidt OI, Gahr RH, Gosse A, Heyde CE. (2009) ATLS(R) and damage control in spine trauma. World J Emerg Surg, 4: 9.

59. Whiley SP, Alves H, Grace S. (2013) Full-body x-ray imaging to facilitate triage: a potential aid in high-volume emergency departments. Emerg Med Int, 2013: 437078.

60. Evangelopoulos DS, Deyle S, Zimmermann H, Exadaktylos AK. (2009) Personal experience with whole-body, low-dosage, digital X-ray scanning (LODOX-Statscan) in trauma. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med, 17: 41.

61. Richards JR, McGahan JP. (2017) Focused Assessment with Sonography in Trauma (FAST) in 2017: What Radiologists Can Learn. Radiology, 283: 30-48.

62. Pace J, Arntfield R. (2018) Focused assessment with sonography in trauma: a review of concepts and considerations for anesthesiology. Can J Anaesth, 65: 360-370.

63. Mallinson PI, Coupal TM, McLaughlin PD, Nicolaou S, Munk PL, Ouellette HA.(2016) Dual-Energy CT for the Musculoskeletal System. Radiology, 281: 690-707.

64. Lam S, Gupta R, Kelly H, Curtin HD, Forghani R. (2015) Multiparametric Evaluation of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Using a Single-Source Dual-Energy CT with Fast kVp Switching: State of the Art. Cancers (Basel), 7: 2201-2216.

65. Ebrahimi M, Pirazghandi H, Reihani HR. (2015) How is the injury severity scored? a brief review of scoring systems. Clinical Medicine, 2: 125-128.

66. Vaccaro AR, Oner C, Kepler CK, Dvorak M, Schnake K, Bellabarba C, Reinhold M, Aarabi B, Kandziora F, Chapman J, Shanmuganathan R, Fehlings M, Vialle L, Injury AOSC, Trauma Knowledge F. (2013) AOSpine thoracolumbar spine injury classification system: fracture description, neurological status, and key modifiers. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 38: 2028-2037.

67. Kepler CK, Vaccaro AR, Koerner JD, Dvorak MF, Kandziora F, Rajasekaran S, Aarabi B, Vialle LR, Fehlings MG, Schroeder GD, Reinhold M, Schnake KJ, Bellabarba C, Cumhur Oner F. (2016) Reliability analysis of the AOSpine thoracolumbar spine injury classification system by a worldwide group of naive spinal surgeons. Eur Spine J, 25: 1082-1086.

68. AOSpine. (2019) [AO Spine Classification Systems.

69. Backer HC, Wu CH, Turner Vosseller J, Exadaktylos AK, Benneker L, Krause F, Hoppe S, Albers CE. (2019) Spinopelvic dissociation in patients suffering injuries from airborne sports. Eur Spine J.

70. Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Deml MC, Perka C, Putzier M. (2020) Spinopelvic Dissociation: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg.

71. Isler B. (1990) Lumbosacral lesions associated with pelvic ring injuries. J Orthop Trauma, 4: 1-6.

72. Kirshblum SC, Burns SP, Biering-Sorensen F, Donovan W, Graves DE, Jha A, Johansen M, Jones L, Krassioukov A, Mulcahey MJ, Schmidt-Read M, Waring W. (2011) International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury (revised 2011). J Spinal Cord Med, 34: 535-546.

73. Bennett J, M Das J, Emmady PD. (2021) Spinal Cord Injuries. StatPearls [Internet].

74. Lindahl J, Makinen TJ, Koskinen SK, Soderlund T. (2014) Factors associated with outcome of spinopelvic dissociation treated with lumbopelvic fixation. Injury, 45: 1914-1920.

75. Schildhauer TA, Bellabarba C, Nork SE, Barei DP, Routt ML, Jr., Chapman JR. (2006) Decompression and lumbopelvic fixation for sacral fracture-dislocations with spino-pelvic dissociation. J Orthop Trauma, 20: 447-457.

76. Schildhauer TA, Josten C, Muhr G. (1998) Triangular osteosynthesis of vertically unstable sacrum fractures: a new concept allowing early weight-bearing. J Orthop Trauma, 12: 307-314.

77. Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Benneker L, Noger M, Krause F, Hoppe S, Deml MC.(2019) Spinal injuries in airborne accidents: a demographic overview of 148 patients in a level-1 trauma center. Eur Spine J.

78. Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Exadaktylos AK, Perka C, Benneker LM, Krause FG, Deml MC. (2020) Epidemiology and injury patterns of aerial sports in Switzerland. World J Orthop, 11: 107-115.

79. Kaya M, Yaldiz C, Ceylan D. (2016) Malgaigne Fracture in Childhood: A Case Report and Review of Literature. Medicine (Baltimore), 95: e2521.

80. Mahajan R, Tandon V, Das K, Nanda A, Venkatesh R, Chhabra HS. (2015) Management of neglected sacral fracture with cauda equina syndrome: report of two cases with review of literature. Spinal Cord Ser Cases, 1: 15020.

81. Pearson JM, Niemeier TE, McGwin G, Rajaram Manoharan S. (2018) Spinopelvic Dissociation: Comparison of Outcomes of Percutaneous versus Open Fixation Strategies. Adv Orthop, 2018: 5023908.

82. DeRogatis MJ, Breceda AP, Lee P, Issack PS. (2018) Sacral Fractures with Spondylopelvic Dissociation. JBJS Rev, 6: e3.

83. Adelved A, Totterman A, Glott T, Hellund JC, Madsen JE, Roise O. (2016) Longterm functional outcome after traumatic lumbosacral dissociation. A retrospective case series of 13 patients. Injury, 47: 1562-1568.

84. Arandi NR, Mundis GM, Jr., Kabirian N, Zhang D, Schroerlucke S. (2015) Traumatic complete lateral dislocation at the lumbosacral junction: a case report. J Spinal Disord Tech, 28: E56-60.

101

85. Ayoub MA. (2012) Displaced spinopelvic dissociation with sacral cauda equina syndrome: outcome of surgical decompression with a preliminary management algorithm. Eur Spine J, 21: 1815-1825.

86. Chen HW, Liu GD, Zhao GS, Pan J. (2011) Isolated u-shaped sacral fracture with cauda equina injury. Orthopedics, 34.

87. Chou DTS, El-Daly I, Ranganathan A, Montgomery A, Culpan P, Bates P. (2018) Spinopelvic Dissociation: A Retrospective Case Study and Review of Treatment Controversies. J Am Acad Orthop Surg, 26: e302-e312.

88. Chung HY, Suk KS, Lee HM, Kim HS, Jung WC, Moon SH, Lee BH. (2016) Growing rod technique for the treatment of the traumatic spinopelvic dissociation: a technical trick. Spine J, 16: e209-214.

89. Cody JP, Kang DG, Lehman RA, Jr. (2012) Combat-related lumbopelvic dissociation treated with percutaneous sacroiliac screw placement. Spine J, 12: 858-859.
90. Fardon DF. (1979) Displaced transverse fracture of the sacrum with nerve root injury: report of a case with successful operative management. J Trauma, 19: 119-122.

91. Futamura K, Baba T, Mogami A, Kanda A, Obayashi O, Iwase H, Kaneko K. (2018) "Within ring"-based sacroiliac rod fixation may overcome the weakness of spinopelvic fixation for unstable pelvic ring injuries: technical notes and clinical outcomes. Int Orthop, 42: 1405-1411.

92. Gribnau AJ, van Hensbroek PB, Haverlag R, Ponsen KJ, Been HD, Goslings JC.
(2009) U-shaped sacral fractures: surgical treatment and quality of life. Injury, 40: 1040-1048.

93. Griffin JB, Sutherland GH. (1980) Traumatic posterior fracture-dislocation of the lumbosacral joint. J Trauma, 20: 426-428.

94. Hart RA, Badra MI, Madala A, Yoo JU. (2007) Use of pelvic incidence as a guide to reduction of H-type spino-pelvic dissociation injuries. J Orthop Trauma, 21: 369-374.

95. He S, Zhang H, Zhao Q, He B, Guo H, Hao D. (2014) Posterior approach in treating sacral fracture combined with lumbopelvic dissociation. Orthopedics, 37: e1027-1032.

96. Helgeson MD, Lehman RA, Jr., Cooper P, Frisch M, Andersen RC, Bellabarba C.
(2011) Retrospective review of lumbosacral dissociations in blast injuries. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 36: E469-475.

97. Holland CM, Moore MK, Valdivia Valdivia J. (2015) Traumatic spinopelvic dissociation after fall from a height with the treatment complicated by degenerative thoracic scoliosis. Spine J, 15: 1150-1151.

98. Hunt N, Jennings A, Smith M. (2002) Current management of U-shaped sacral fractures or spino-pelvic dissociation. Injury, 33: 123-126.

99. Hussin P, Chan CY, Saw LB, Kwan MK. (2009) U-shaped sacral fracture: an easily missed fracture with high morbidity. A report of two cases. Emerg Med J, 26: 677-678.

100. Kang DG, Cody JP, Lehman RA, Jr. (2012) Combat-related lumbopelvic dissociation treated with L4 to ilium posterior fusion. Spine J, 12: 860-861.

101. Kang S, Chung PH, Kim JP, Kim YS, Lee HM, Eum GS. (2015) Superior Gluteal Artery Injury during Percutaneous Iliosacral Screw Fixation: A Case Report. Hip Pelvis, 27: 57-62.

102. Keel MJ, Benneker LM, Siebenrock KA, Bastian JD. (2011) Less invasive lumbopelvic stabilization of posterior pelvic ring instability: technique and preliminary results. J Trauma, 71: E62-70.

103. Kenawey M, Addosooki A. (2014) U-shaped sacral fracture with iliac crest apophyseal avulsion in a young child. J Pediatr Orthop, 34: e6-e11.

104. Konig MA, Seidel U, Heini P, Orler R, Quraishi NA, Boszczyk AA, Boszczyk BM. (2013) Minimal-invasive percutaneous reduction and transsacral screw fixation for U-shaped fractures. J Spinal Disord Tech, 26: 48-54.

105. Markel DC, Raskas DS, Graziano GP. (1993) A case of traumatic spino-pelvic dissociation. J Orthop Trauma, 7: 562-566.

106. Mendel T, Kuhn P, Wohlrab D, Brehme K. (2009) [Minimally invasive fixation of a sacral bilateral fracture with lumbopelvic dissociation]. Unfallchirurg, 112: 590-595.
107. Mouhsine E, Wettstein M, Schizas C, Borens O, Blanc CH, Leyvraz PF, Theumann N, Garofalo R. (2006) Modified triangular posterior osteosynthesis of unstable sacrum fracture. Eur Spine J, 15: 857-863.

108. Nonne D, Capone A, Sanna F, Busnelli L, Russo AL, Marongiu G, Dessi G, Ferreli A. (2018) Suicidal jumper's fracture - sacral fractures and spinopelvic instability: a case series. J Med Case Rep, 12: 186.

109. Porrino JA, Jr., Kohl CA, Holden D, Taljanovic M, Rogers LF. (2010) The importance of sagittal 2D reconstruction in pelvic and sacral trauma: avoiding oversight of U-shaped fractures of the sacrum. AJR Am J Roentgenol, 194: 1065-1071.

110. Rhee WT, You SH, Jang YG, Lee SY. (2007) Lumbo-sacro-pelvic Fixation UsingIliac Screws for the Complex Lumbo-sacral Fractures. J Korean Neurosurg Soc, 42: 495-498.

111. Robbins M, Mallon Z, Roberto R, Patel R, Gupta M, Klineberg E. (2015) Traumatic Spondylopelvic Dissociation: A Report of Two Cases of Spondylolisthesis at L5-S1 and Review of Literature. Global Spine J, 5: 225-230.

112. Ruatti S, Kerschbaumer G, Gay E, Milaire M, Merloz P, Tonetti J. (2013) Technique for reduction and percutaneous fixation of U- and H-shaped sacral fractures. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res, 99: 625-629.

113. Sabourin M, Lazennec JY, Catonne Y, Pascal-Moussellard H, Rousseau MA.(2010) Shortening osteotomy and sacro-sacral fixation for U-shaped sacral fractures. JSpinal Disord Tech, 23: 457-460.

114. Safaie Yazdi A, Omidi-Kashani F, Baradaran A. (2015) Intrapelvic Lumbosacral
Fracture Dislocation in a Neurologically Intact Patient: A Case Report. Arch Trauma Res,
4: e25439.

115. Taguchi T, Kawai S, Kaneko K, Yugue D. (1999) Operative management of displaced fractures of the sacrum. J Orthop Sci, 4: 347-352.

116. Tan GQ, He JL, Fu BS, Li LX, Wang BM, Zhou DS. (2012) Lumbopelvic fixation for multiplanar sacral fractures with spinopelvic instability. Injury, 43: 1318-1325.

117. Van Savage JG, Dahners LE, Renner JB, Baker CC. (1992) Fracture-dislocation of the lumbosacral spine: case report and review of the literature. J Trauma, 33: 779-784.
118. Vilela MD, Gelfenbeyn M, Bellabarba C. (2009) U-shaped sacral fracture and lumbosacral dislocation as a result of a shotgun injury: case report. Neurosurgery, 64:

E193-194; discussion E4.

119. Vilela MD, Jermani C, Braga BP. (2007) Lumbopelvic fixation and sacral decompression for a U-shaped sacral fracture: case report. Arq Neuropsiquiatr, 65: 865-868.

120. Vresilovic EJ, Mehta S, Placide R, Milam RAt. (2005) Traumatic spondylopelvic dissociation. A report of two cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 87: 1098-1103.

121. Williams SK, Quinnan SM. (2016) Percutaneous Lumbopelvic Fixation for Reduction and Stabilization of Sacral Fractures With Spinopelvic Dissociation Patterns. J Orthop Trauma, 30: e318-324.

122. Backer HC, Wu CH, Perka C, Panics G. (2021) Dual-Energy Computed Tomography in Spine Fractures: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Spine Surg, 15: 525-535.

123. Pumberger M, Fuchs M, Engelhard N, Hermann KG, Putzier M, Makowski MR, Hamm B, Diekhoff T. (2019) Disk injury in patients with vertebral fractures-a prospective diagnostic accuracy study using dual-energy computed tomography. Eur Radiol, 29: 4495-4502.

124. Diekhoff T, Engelhard N, Fuchs M, Pumberger M, Putzier M, Mews J, Makowski M, Hamm B, Hermann KA. (2019) Single-source dual-energy computed tomography for the assessment of bone marrow oedema in vertebral compression fractures: a prospective diagnostic accuracy study. Eur Radiol, 29: 31-39.

125. Diekhoff T, Hermann KG, Pumberger M, Hamm B, Putzier M, Fuchs M. (2017) Dual-energy CT virtual non-calcium technique for detection of bone marrow edema in patients with vertebral fractures: A prospective feasibility study on a single- source volume CT scanner. Eur J Radiol, 87: 59-65.

126. Karaca L, Yuceler Z, Kantarci M, Cakir M, Sade R, Calikoglu C, Ogul H, Bayrakturan UG. (2016) The feasibility of dual-energy CT in differentiation of vertebral compression fractures. Br J Radiol, 89: 20150300.

127. Foti G, Beltramello A, Catania M, Rigotti S, Serra G, Carbognin G. (2019) Diagnostic accuracy of dual-energy CT and virtual non-calcium techniques to evaluate bone marrow edema in vertebral compression fractures. Radiol Med, 124: 487-494.

128. Engelhard N, Hermann KG, Greese J, Fuchs M, Pumberger M, Putzier M, Diekhoff T. (2019) Single-source dual-energy computed tomography for the detection of bone marrow lesions: impact of iterative reconstruction and algorithms. Skeletal Radiol.

129. Bierry G, Venkatasamy A, Kremer S, Dosch JC, Dietemann JL. (2014) Dualenergy CT in vertebral compression fractures: performance of visual and quantitative analysis for bone marrow edema demonstration with comparison to MRI. Skeletal Radiol, 43: 485-492. 130. Kaup M, Wichmann JL, Scholtz JE, Beeres M, Kromen W, Albrecht MH, Lehnert T, Boettcher M, Vogl TJ, Bauer RW. (2016) Dual-Energy CT-based Display of Bone Marrow Edema in Osteoporotic Vertebral Compression Fractures: Impact on Diagnostic Accuracy of Radiologists with Varying Levels of Experience in Correlation to MR Imaging. Radiology, 280: 510-519.

131. Wang CK, Tsai JM, Chuang MT, Wang MT, Huang KY, Lin RM. (2013) Bone marrow edema in vertebral compression fractures: detection with dual-energy CT. Radiology, 269: 525-533.

132. Schwaiger BJ, Gersing AS, Hammel J, Mei K, Kopp FK, Kirschke JS, Rummeny EJ, Wortler K, Baum T, Noel PB. (2018) Three-material decomposition with dual-layer spectral CT compared to MRI for the detection of bone marrow edema in patients with acute vertebral fractures. Skeletal Radiol, 47: 1533-1540.

133. Neuhaus V, Lennartz S, Abdullayev N, Grosse Hokamp N, Shapira N, Kafri G, Holz JA, Krug B, Hellmich M, Maintz D, Borggrefe J. (2018) Bone marrow edema in traumatic vertebral compression fractures: Diagnostic accuracy of dual-layer detector CT using calcium suppressed images. Eur J Radiol, 105: 216-220.

134. Petritsch B, Kosmala A, Weng AM, Krauss B, Heidemeier A, Wagner R, Heintel TM, Gassenmaier T, Bley TA. (2017) Vertebral Compression Fractures: Third-Generation Dual-Energy CT for Detection of Bone Marrow Edema at Visual and Quantitative Analyses. Radiology, 284: 161-168.

135. Ganiyusufoglu AK, Onat L, Karatoprak O, Enercan M, Hamzaoglu A. (2010) Diagnostic accuracy of magnetic resonance imaging versus computed tomography in stress fractures of the lumbar spine. Clin Radiol, 65: 902-907.

136. Na D, Hong SJ, Yoon MA, Ahn KS, Kang CH, Kim BH, Jang Y. (2016) Spinal Bone Bruise: Can Computed Tomography (CT) Enable Accurate Diagnosis? Acad Radiol, 23: 1376-1383.

137. Ren L, McCollough CH, Yu L. (2018) Three-Material Decomposition in Multienergy CT: Impact of Prior Information on Noise and Bias. Proc SPIE Int Soc Opt Eng, 10573.

138. Yang P, Wu G, Chang X. (2018) Diagnostic accuracy of dual-energy computed tomography in bone marrow edema with vertebral compression fractures: A metaanalysis. Eur J Radiol, 99: 124-129. 139. Campbell RS, Grainger AJ. (1999) Optimization of MRI pulse sequences to visualize the normal pars interarticularis. Clin Radiol, 54: 63-68.

140. Dussa CU, Soni BM. (2008) Influence of type of management of transverse sacral fractures on neurological outcome. A case series and review of literature. Spinal Cord, 46: 590-594.

141. Chen Y, Tang Y, Vogel LC, Devivo MJ. (2013) Causes of spinal cord injury. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil, 19: 1-8.

142. Soreide K, Ellingsen CL, Knutson V. (2007) How dangerous is BASE jumping? An analysis of adverse events in 20,850 jumps from the Kjerag Massif, Norway. J Trauma, 62: 1113-1117.

143. Fasching G, Schippinger G, Pretscher R. (1997) Paragliding accidents in remote areas. Wilderness Environ Med, 8: 129-133.

144. Wilson JR, Tetreault LA, Kwon BK, Arnold PM, Mroz TE, Shaffrey C, Harrop JS, Chapman JR, Casha S, Skelly AC, Holmer HK, Brodt ED, Fehlings MG. (2017) Timing of Decompression in Patients With Acute Spinal Cord Injury: A Systematic Review. Global Spine J, 7: 95S-115S.

145. Furlan JC, Noonan V, Cadotte DW, Fehlings MG. (2011) Timing of decompressive surgery of spinal cord after traumatic spinal cord injury: an evidence-based examination of pre-clinical and clinical studies. J Neurotrauma, 28: 1371-1399.

146. Go MR, Barbato JE, Dillavou ED, Gupta N, Rhee RY, Makaroun MS, Cho JS.(2007) Thoracic endovascular aortic repair for traumatic aortic transection. J Vasc Surg,46: 928-933.

147. Feletti F, Goin J. (2014) Accidents and injuries related to powered paragliding: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open, 4: e005508.

148. Rekand T. (2012) The epidemiology of injury in hang-gliding and paragliding.Med Sport Sci, 58: 44-56.

149. Zeller T, Billing A, Lob G. (1992) Injuries in paragliding. Int Orthop, 16: 255-9.

150. Ball VL, Sutton JA, Hull A, Sinnott BA. (2014) Traumatic injury patterns associated with static line parachuting. Wilderness Environ Med, 25: 89-93.

151. Canbek U, Imerci A, Akgun U, Yesil M, Aydin A, Balci Y. (2015) Characteristics of injuries caused by paragliding accidents: A cross-sectional study. World J Emerg Med, 6: 221-224.

152. Dekker R, Kingma J, Groothoff JW, Eisma WH, Ten Duis HJ. (2000) Measurement of severity of sports injuries: an epidemiological study. Clin Rehabil, 14: 651-656.

153. Westman A, Bjornstig U. (2007) Injuries in Swedish skydiving. Br J Sports Med,41: 356-64; discussion 64.

154. Weber CD, Horst K, Nguyen AR, Lefering R, Pape HC, Hildebrand F, TraumaRegister DGU. (2018) Evaluation of severe and fatal injuries in extreme and contact sports: an international multicenter analysis. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg, 138: 963-970.

155. Palmer C. (2007) Major trauma and the injury severity score--where should we set the bar? Annu Proc Assoc Adv Automot Med, 51: 13-29.

156. Liang CC, Liu HT, Rau CS, Hsu SY, Hsieh HY, Hsieh CH. (2015) Motorcyclerelated hospitalization of adolescents in a Level I trauma center in southern Taiwan: a cross-sectional study. BMC Pediatr, 15: 105.

157. Rust DA, Gilmore CJ, Treme G. (2013) Injury patterns at a large Western United States ski resort with and without snowboarders: the Taos experience. Am J Sports Med, 41: 652-656.

158. Bakhsheshian J, Dahdaleh NS, Fakurnejad S, Scheer JK, Smith ZA. (2014) Evidence-based management of traumatic thoracolumbar burst fractures: a systematic review of nonoperative management. Neurosurg Focus, 37: E1.

159. Pinto DC, Haden-Pinneri K, Love JC. (2013) Manual and automated cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR): a comparison of associated injury patterns. J Forensic Sci, 58: 904-909.

160. Backer H, Kyburz A, Bosshard A, Babst R, Beeres FJP. (2017) Dead or dying? Pulseless electrical activity during trauma resuscitation. Br J Anaesth, 118: 809.

Beningfield S, Potgieter H, Nicol A, van As S, Bowie G, Hering E, Latti E. (2003)
Report on a new type of trauma full-body digital X-ray machine. Emerg Radiol, 10: 23-29.

162. Bateman C. (2012) Answering when opportunity knocks - SATS goes global. S Afr Med J, 102: 121-122.
163. Turegano-Fuentes F, Perez-Diaz D, Sanz-Sanchez M, Ortiz Alonso J. (2008) Overall Assessment of the Response to Terrorist Bombings in Trains, Madrid, 11 March 2004. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg, 34: 433.

164. Rosedale K, Smith ZA, Davies H, Wood D. (2011) The effectiveness of the South African Triage Score (SATS) in a rural emergency department. S Afr Med J, 101: 537-540.

165. Shackford SR, Rogers FB, Osler TM, Trabulsy ME, Clauss DW, Vane DW. (1999) Focused abdominal sonogram for trauma: the learning curve of nonradiologist clinicians in detecting hemoperitoneum. J Trauma, 46: 553-62; discussion 62-64.

166. Thomas B, Falcone RE, Vasquez D, Santanello S, Townsend M, Hockenberry S, Innes J, Wanamaker S. (1997) Ultrasound evaluation of blunt abdominal trauma: program implementation, initial experience, and learning curve. J Trauma, 42: 384-388; discussion 8-90.

167. Sato M, Yoshii H. (2004) Reevaluation of ultrasonography for solid-organ injury in blunt abdominal trauma. J Ultrasound Med, 23: 1583-1596.

168. Lee C, Balk D, Schafer J, Welwarth J, Hardin J, Yarza S, Novack V, HoffmannB. (2019) Accuracy of Focused Assessment with Sonography for Trauma (FAST) inDisaster Settings: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Disaster Med Public HealthPrep: 1-6.

169. Takami M, Nohda K, Sakanaka J, Nakamura M, Yoshida M. (2014) Usefulness of full spine computed tomography in cases of high-energy trauma: a prospective study. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol, 24 Suppl 1: S167-171.

170. Schenarts PJ, Diaz J, Kaiser C, Carrillo Y, Eddy V, Morris JA, Jr. (2001) Prospective comparison of admission computed tomographic scan and plain films of the upper cervical spine in trauma patients with altered mental status. J Trauma, 51: 663-8; discussion 8-9.

171. Dudli S, Ferguson SJ, Haschtmann D. (2014) Severity and pattern of posttraumatic intervertebral disc degeneration depend on the type of injury. Spine J, 14: 1256-1264.

172. Kumar V, McElhanon KE, Min JK, He X, Xu Z, Beck EX, Simonetti OP, Weisleder N, Raman SV. (2018) Non-contrast estimation of diffuse myocardial fibrosis with dual energy CT: A phantom study. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr, 12: 74-80.

173. O'Boynick CP, Kurd MF, Darden BV, 2nd, Vaccaro AR, Fehlings MG. (2014)Timing of surgery in thoracolumbar trauma: is early intervention safe? Neurosurg Focus,37: E7.

174. Fehlings MG, Rabin D, Sears W, Cadotte DW, Aarabi B. (2010) Current practice in the timing of surgical intervention in spinal cord injury. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 35: S166-173.

175. Macias CA, Rosengart MR, Puyana JC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Smith W, Peitzman AB, Angus DC. (2009) The effects of trauma center care, admission volume, and surgical volume on paralysis after traumatic spinal cord injury. Ann Surg, 249: 10-17.

176. Smits AJ, Polack M, Deunk J, Bloemers FW. (2017) Combined anteroposterior fixation using a titanium cage versus solely posterior fixation for traumatic thoracolumbar fractures: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Craniovertebr Junction Spine, 8: 168-178.

177. Mobbs RJ. (2013) The "medio-latero-superior trajectory technique": an alternative cortical trajectory for pedicle fixation. Orthop Surg, 5: 56-59.

178. Santoni BG, Hynes RA, McGilvray KC, Rodriguez-Canessa G, Lyons AS, Henson MA, Womack WJ, Puttlitz CM. (2009) Cortical bone trajectory for lumbar pedicle screws. Spine J, 9: 366-373.

179. Matsukawa K, Yato Y, Kato T, Imabayashi H, Asazuma T, Nemoto K. (2014) In vivo analysis of insertional torque during pedicle screwing using cortical bone trajectory technique. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 39: E240-245.

180. HC B, Freibott CE, Perka C, Weidenbaum M. (2020) Surgeons' Learning Curve of Renaissance Robotic Surgical System. Int J Spine Surg, 14: 818-823.

181. Phan K, Ramachandran V, Tran TM, Shah KP, Fadhil M, Lackey A, Chang N, Wu AM, Mobbs RJ. (2017) Systematic review of cortical bone trajectory versus pedicle screw techniques for lumbosacral spine fusion. J Spine Surg, 3: 679-688.

182. Bracken MB, Shepard MJ, Collins WF, Holford TR, Young W, Baskin DS, Eisenberg HM, Flamm E, Leo-Summers L, Maroon J. (1990) A randomized, controlled trial of methylprednisolone or naloxone in the treatment of acute spinal-cord injury. Results of the Second National Acute Spinal Cord Injury Study. N Engl J Med, 322: 1405-1411.

183. Bracken MB, Shepard MJ, Holford TR, Leo-Summers L, Aldrich EF, Fazl M, Fehlings M, Herr DL, Hitchon PW, Marshall LF, Nockels RP, Pascale V, Perot PL, Jr., Piepmeier J, Sonntag VK, Wagner F, Wilberger JE, Winn HR, Young W. (1997) Administration of methylprednisolone for 24 or 48 hours or tirilazad mesylate for 48 hours in the treatment of acute spinal cord injury. Results of the Third National Acute Spinal Cord Injury Randomized Controlled Trial. National Acute Spinal Cord Injury Study. JAMA, 277: 1597-604.

184. Hurlbert RJ. (2000) Methylprednisolone for acute spinal cord injury: an inappropriate standard of care. J Neurosurg, 93: 1-7.

185. Baptiste DC, Fehlings MG. (2008) Emerging drugs for spinal cord injury. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs, 13: 63-80.

186. Fehlings MG, Vaccaro A, Wilson JR, Singh A, D WC, Harrop JS, Aarabi B, Shaffrey C, Dvorak M, Fisher C, Arnold P, Massicotte EM, Lewis S, Rampersaud R. (2012) Early versus delayed decompression for traumatic cervical spinal cord injury: results of the Surgical Timing in Acute Spinal Cord Injury Study (STASCIS). PLoS One, 7: e32037.

187. Cengiz SL, Kalkan E, Bayir A, Ilik K, Basefer A. (2008) Timing of thoracolomber spine stabilization in trauma patients; impact on neurological outcome and clinical course. A real prospective (rct) randomized controlled study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg, 128: 959-966.

188. Li Y, Walker CL, Zhang YP, Shields CB, Xu XM. (2014) Surgical decompression in acute spinal cord injury: A review of clinical evidence, animal model studies, and potential future directions of investigation. Front Biol (Beijing), 9: 127-136.

189. Perkins PG, Deane RH. (1988) Long-term follow-up of six patients with acute spinal injury following dural decompression. Injury, 19: 397-401.

190. Schumacher HW, Wassmann H, Podlinski C. (1988) Pseudomeningocele of the lumbar spine. Surg Neurol, 29: 77-78.

191. Desai A, Ball PA, Bekelis K, Lurie J, Mirza SK, Tosteson TD, Weinstein JN. (2011) SPORT: does incidental durotomy affect long-term outcomes in cases of spinal stenosis? Neurosurgery, 69: 38-44; discussion

192. Tator CH. (1991) Review of experimental spinal cord injury with emphasis on the local and systemic circulatory effects. Neurochirurgie, 37: 291-302.

193. Profyris C, Cheema SS, Zang D, Azari MF, Boyle K, Petratos S. (2004) Degenerative and regenerative mechanisms governing spinal cord injury. Neurobiol Dis, 15: 415-436.

194. Lehman RA, Jr., Kang DG, Bellabarba C. (2012) A new classification for complex lumbosacral injuries. Spine J, 12: 612-628.

195. Schildhauer TA, Ledoux WR, Chapman JR, Henley MB, Tencer AF, Routt ML, Jr. (2003) Triangular osteosynthesis and iliosacral screw fixation for unstable sacral fractures: a cadaveric and biomechanical evaluation under cyclic loads. J Orthop Trauma, 17: 22-31.

196. Ang DN, Rivara FP, Nathens A, Jurkovich GJ, Maier RV, Wang J, MacKenzie EJ. (2009) Complication rates among trauma centers. J Am Coll Surg, 209: 595-602.

197. Pishnamaz M, Oikonomidis S, Knobe M, Horst K, Pape HC, Kobbe P. (2015) Open versus Percutaneous Stabilization of Thoracolumbar Spine Fractures: A Short-Term Functional and Radiological Follow-up. Acta Chir Orthop Traumatol Cech, 82: 274-281.

198. Zhao Q, Zhang H, Hao D, Guo H, Wang B, He B. (2018) Complications of percutaneous pedicle screw fixation in treating thoracolumbar and lumbar fracture. Medicine (Baltimore), 97: e11560.

199. Prin M, Li G. (2016) Complications and in-hospital mortality in trauma patients treated in intensive care units in the United States, 2013. Inj Epidemiol, 3: 18.

200. Huittinen VM. (1972) Lumbosacral nerve injury in fracture of the pelvis. A postmortem radiographic and patho-anatomical study. Acta Chir Scand Suppl, 429: 3-43.

201. Teasell RW, Hsieh JT, Aubut JA, Eng JJ, Krassioukov A, Tu L, Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation Evidence Review Research T. (2009) Venous thromboembolism after spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 90: 232-245.

202. (2016) Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism in Individuals with Spinal Cord Injury: Clinical Practice Guidelines for Health Care Providers, 3rd ed.: Consortium for Spinal Cord Medicine. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil, 22: 209-240.

203. Dhall SS, Hadley MN, Aarabi B, Gelb DE, Hurlbert RJ, Rozzelle CJ, Ryken TC, Theodore N, Walters BC. (2013) Deep venous thrombosis and thromboembolism in patients with cervical spinal cord injuries. Neurosurgery, 72 Suppl 2: 244-254.

204. Hadley MN, Walters BC, Grabb PA, Oyesiku NM, Przybylski GJ, Resnick DK, Ryken TC. (2002) Deep venous thrombosis and thromboembolism in patients with cervical spinal cord injuries. Neurosurgery, 50: S73-80.

205. Fehlings MG, Tetreault LA, Wilson JR, Kwon BK, Burns AS, Martin AR, Hawryluk G, Harrop JS. (2017) A Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Acute Spinal Cord Injury: Introduction, Rationale, and Scope. Global Spine J, 7: 84S-94S.

206. Burns AS, Marino RJ, Flanders AE, Flett H. (2012) Clinical diagnosis and prognosis following spinal cord injury. Handb Clin Neurol, 109: 47-62.

207. Fawcett JW, Curt A, Steeves JD, Coleman WP, Tuszynski MH, Lammertse D, Bartlett PF, Blight AR, Dietz V, Ditunno J, Dobkin BH, Havton LA, Ellaway PH, Fehlings MG, Privat A, Grossman R, Guest JD, Kleitman N, Nakamura M, Gaviria M, Short D. (2007) Guidelines for the conduct of clinical trials for spinal cord injury as developed by the ICCP panel: spontaneous recovery after spinal cord injury and statistical power needed for therapeutic clinical trials. Spinal Cord, 45: 190-205.

208. Dobkin BH. (2007) Confounders in rehabilitation trials of task-oriented training: lessons from the designs of the EXCITE and SCILT multicenter trials. Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 21: 3-13.

209. Reinhold M, Audige L, Schnake KJ, Bellabarba C, Dai LY, Oner FC. (2013) AO spine injury classification system: a revision proposal for the thoracic and lumbar spine. Eur Spine J, 22: 2184-2201.

10. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

1. Related to the thesis

- Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Deml MC, Perka C, Putzier M. (2021) Spinopelvic Dissociation: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg, 29: e198-e207.
- Backer HC, Wu CH, Vosseller JT, Exadaktylos AK, Benneker L, Krause F, Hoppe S, Albers CE. (2020) Spinopelvic dissociation in patients suffering injuries from airborne sports. Eur Spine J, 29: 2513-2520.
- Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Benneker L, Noger M, Krause F, Hoppe S, Deml MC. (2019) Spinal injuries in airborne accidents: a demographic overview of 148 patients in a level-1 trauma center. Eur Spine J, 28: 1138-1145.
- Backer HC, Wu CH, Perka C, Panics G. (2021) Dual-Energy Computed Tomography in Spine Fractures: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Spine Surg, 15: 525-535.
- Backer H, Kyburz A, Bosshard A, Babst R, Beeres FJP. (2017) Dead or dying? Pulseless electrical activity during trauma resuscitation. Br J Anaesth, 118: 809.
- Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Exadaktylos AK, Perka C, Benneker LM, Krause FG, Deml MC. (2020) Epidemiology and injury patterns of aerial sports in Switzerland. World J Orthop, 11: 107-115.

2. Not related to the thesis

- 1. Backer HC, Wu CH, Kienzle A, Perka C, Gwinner C. (2022) Mechanical failure of total hip arthroplasties and associated risk factors. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.
- Backer HC, Heyland M, Wu CH, Perka C, Stockle U, Braun KF. (2022) Breakage of intramedullary femoral nailing or femoral plating: how to prevent implant failure. Eur J Med Res, 27: 7.
- 3. Backer HC, Freibott CE, Swart E, Perka C, Jobin CM, Rosenwasser MP. (2021) A novel treatment for prevention of post-traumatic elbow stiffness using onaBotulinum

toxin type A: a prospective placebo controlled randomized trial. Acta Orthop Belg, 87: 509-520.

- Backer HC, Galle SE, Lentzsch S, Freibott CE, Shoap S, Strauch RJ, Rosenwasser MP. (2021) Flexor tenosynovectomy in carpal tunnel syndrome as a screening tool for early diagnosis of amyloidosis. Ir J Med Sci.
- 5. Backer HC, Vosseller JT. (2021) Intramedullary fixation of fibula fractures: A systematic review. J Clin Orthop Trauma, 18: 136-143.
- 6. Backer HC, Wu CH, Maniglio M, Wittekindt S, Hardt S, Perka C. (2021) Epidemiology of proximal femoral fractures. J Clin Orthop Trauma, 12: 161-165.
- Backer HC, Wu CH, Schulz MRG, Weber-Spickschen TS, Perka C, Hardt S. (2021) App-based rehabilitation program after total knee arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg, 141: 1575-1582.
- Backer HC, Vosseller JT. (2020) Fibula Fracture: Plate versus Nail Fixation. Clin Orthop Surg, 12: 529-534.
- HC BA, Freibott CE, Perka C, Weidenbaum M. (2020) Surgeons' Learning Curve of Renaissance Robotic Surgical System. Int J Spine Surg, 14: 818-823.
- Backer HC, Wu CH, Kruger D, Gwinner C, Perka C, Hardt S. (2020) Metal on Metal Bearing in Total Hip Arthroplasty and Its Impact on Synovial Cell Count. J Clin Med, 9.
- 11. Backer HC, Shoap S, Vasarhelyi G, Panics G. (2020) Isolated Femoral Shaft Fracture in Wakeboarding and Review of the Literature. Case Rep Orthop, 2020: 8841395.
- Backer HC, Shoap S, Vajda J, Nyary I. (2020) Anterior communicating artery aneurysm rupture and functional outcome in short-term: clipping versus coiling. J Integr Neurosci, 19: 349-354.
- 13. Backer HC, Kruger D, Spies S, Perka C, Kirschbaum SM, Hardt S. (2022) Effect of total hip arthroplasty on brake reaction time and braking force. Hip Int, 32: 51-55.
- Backer HC, Freibott CE, Rizzo M, Lee DH, Glickel SZ, Strauch RJ, Rosenwasser MP. (2020) Thumb Disability Examination (TDX) as a New Reliable Tool for Basal Joint Arthritis. J Wrist Surg, 9: 209-213.
- Backer HC, Vosseller JT, Bonel H, Cullmann-Bastian J, Krause F, Attinger MC. (2021) Weightbearing Radiography and MRI Findings in Ankle Fractures. Foot Ankle Spec, 14: 489-495.

- Backer HC, Wu CH, Strauch RJ. (2020) Systematic Review of Diagnosis of Clinically Suspected Scaphoid Fractures. J Wrist Surg, 9: 81-89.
- Backer HC, Hardt S, Richards JT, Perka C, Janz V. (2020) Increased Synovial Inflammatory Markers in Aseptic Total Hip Arthroplasty Dislocation. J Arthroplasty, 35: 1412-1416.
- 18. Backer HC, Steurer-Dober I, Beck M, Agten CA, Decking J, Herzog RF, Geller JA, Bhure U, Roos JE, Strobel K. (2020) Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) versus single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT/CT) in painful total hip arthroplasty: a comparative multi-institutional analysis. Br J Radiol, 93: 20190738.
- Backer HC, Greisberg JK, Vosseller JT. (2020) Fibular Plate Fixation and Correlated Short-term Complications. Foot Ankle Spec, 13: 378-382.
- Backer HC, Busko M, Krause FG, Exadaktylos AK, Klukowska-Roetzler J, Deml MC. (2020) Exertional rhabdomyolysis and causes of elevation of creatine kinase. Phys Sportsmed, 48: 179-185.
- 21. Backer HC, Freibott CE, Rosenwasser MP. (2019) Subtraction hemiarthoplasty in basal joint arthritis: A case report. World J Orthop, 10: 304-309.
- Backer HC, Vosseller JT. (2019) Fibular Nail Fixation: Topical Review. Foot Ankle Int, 40: 1331-1337.
- Backer HC, Wong TT, Vosseller JT. (2019) MRI Assessment of Degeneration of the Tendon in Achilles Tendon Ruptures. Foot Ankle Int, 40: 895-899.
- 24. Backer HC, Freibott CE, Wilbur D, Tang P, Barth R, Strauch RJ, Rosenwasser MP, Neviaser R. (2021) Prospective Analysis of Hand Infection Rates in Elective Soft Tissue Procedures of the Hand: The Role of Preoperative Antibiotics. Hand (N Y), 16: 81-85.
- Backer HC, Konigsberg M, Freibott CE, Rosenwasser MP, Greisberg JK, Vosseller JT. (2019) Radiographic Results of Unicortical Medial Malleolar Fracture Fixation. Foot Ankle Int, 40: 398-401.
- Backer HC, Yenchak AJ, Trofa DP, Vosseller JT. (2019) Strength Measurement After Achilles Tendon Repair. Foot Ankle Spec, 12: 471-479.
- 27. Backer HC, Galle SE, Maniglio M, Rosenwasser MP. (2018) Biomechanics of posterior shoulder instability - current knowledge and literature review. World J Orthop, 9: 245-254.

- Backer H, Piros L, Langer RM. (2013) Increasing living donor kidney transplantation numbers in Budapest. Transplant Proc, 45: 3678-3681.
- 29. Jarin IJ, Backer HC, Vosseller JT. (2021) Functional Outcomes of Insertional Achilles Tendinopathy Treatment: A Systematic Review. JBJS Rev, 9.
- 30. Backer H, Polgar L, Soos P, Lajko E, Lang O, Merkely B, Szabó G, Dohmen PM, Weymann A, Köhidai L. (2017) Impedimetric Analysis of the Effect of Decellularized Porcine Heart Scaffold on Human Fibrosarcoma, Endothelial, and Cardiomyocyte Cell Lines. Med Sci Monit, 23: 2232-2240.
- Backer H, Beeres FJ, Rossi M, Scheiwiller A. (2017) Gastric perforation after duodenopancreatectomy. Med Mycol Case Rep, 18: 21-23.
- 32. Ren Y, Labinsky H, Palmowski A, Backer H, Muller M, Kienzle A. (2021) Altered molecular pathways and prognostic markers in active systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: integrated bioinformatic analysis. Bosn J Basic Med Sci.
- 33. Freibott CE, Backer HC, Shoap SC, Tedesco LJ, Galle SE, Rosenwasser MP. (2020) Treatment methods for post-traumatic elbow stiffness caused by heterotopic ossification. J Shoulder Elbow Surg, 29: 1380-1386.
- Jarin I, Backer HC, Vosseller JT. (2020) Meta-analysis of Noninsertional Achilles Tendinopathy. Foot Ankle Int, 41: 744-754.
- 35. Ploner M, Gardetto A, Ploner F, Scharl M, Shoap S, Backer HC. (2020) Foreign rectal body Systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Gastroenterol Belg, 83: 61-65.
- 36. Ludke E, Kohut G, Backer HC, Maniglio M. (2020) Is the Recurrence of Fibroma of the Tendon Sheath Underestimated? An Instructive Case Report and a Review of the Literature. Case Rep Orthop, 2020: 5357329.
- 37. Maniglio M, Backer H, Fornaciari P, Wahl P, Gautier E. (2019) Obturator Dislocation of the Hip with Associated Femoral Head Impaction and Medial Wall Fracture of the Acetabulum. J Orthop Case Rep, 9: 65-69.
- Tantigate D, Ho G, Kirschenbaum J, Backer HC, Asherman B, Freibott C, Greisberg JK, Vosseller JT. (2020) Functional Outcomes After Fracture-Dislocation of the Ankle. Foot Ankle Spec, 13: 18-26.
- 39. Attinger MC, Haefeli PC, Backer HC, Flueckiger R, Ballmer PM, Siebenrock KA, Klenke FM. (2019) The Ganz acetabular reinforcement ring shows excellent longterm results when used as a primary implant: a retrospective analysis of two hundred

and forty primary total hip arthroplasties with a minimum follow-up of twenty years. Int Orthop, 43: 2697-2705.

- 40. Tantigate D, Ho G, Kirschenbaum J, Backer H, Asherman B, Freibott C, Greisberg JK, Vosseller JT. (2019) Timing of Open Reduction and Internal Fixation of Ankle Fractures. Foot Ankle Spec, 12: 401-408.
- 41. Tantigate D, Noback PC, Backer HC, Seetharaman M, Greisberg JK, Vosseller JT. (2018) Anatomy of the ankle capsule: A cadaveric study. Clin Anat, 31: 1018-1023.
- 42. Maniglio M, Fornaciari P, Backer H, Gautier E, Lottenbach M. (2019) Surgical Treatment of Mild to Severe Hallux Valgus Deformities With a Percutaneous Subcapital Osteotomy Combined With a Lateral Soft Tissue Procedure. Foot Ankle Spec, 12: 138-145.

Cummulative impact factor of journals according to the Central Library, Budapest, Hungary (March 3rd 2022): 62.954

11. Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to thank my parents Dr. Susanne Schnorr-Bäcker and Ralf Bäcker who enabled me to study medicine at Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary. They always supported me and broadened my mind.

I am very grateful to Professor Dr. Béla Merkely and Professor Dr. Erszébet Ligeti, MD, PhD who supported me during the medical course and enabled me to perform a PhD thesis through Semmelweis University, Budapest. Many thanks to Dr. Gergely Pánics, PhD who helped me to intensify my sports medicine, orthopaedic and traumatological knowledge and was significantly involved in my clinical career since we first performed a study on isolated femoral shaft fracture in wakeboarding which we presented at the European College Of Sports and Exercise Physicians (ECOSEP) conference in 2013. Based on this experience I decided to go into orthopaedic surgery and traumatology and find my way in academics. Furthermore, he taught me how to perform research and helped me significantly in the creation of the PhD thesis. I would like to thank him for being my advisor of research and PhD thesis and our good cooperation.

Since this PhD thesis is an international collaboration between the United States, Switzerland, Germany, Australia and Hungary I would like to thank the societies who got involved during the process. Furthermore, special thanks go to Dr. Michael A. Johnson (Epworth Richmond Hospital, Australia), Dr. Melvin Rosenwasser (Columbia University Medical Center, New York, USA), Dr. Mark Weidenbaum (The Allen Hospital, New York, USA), Prof. Dr. Lorin Benneker (Inselspital Bern, University Hospital Bern, Switzerland), Prof. Dr. Martin Beck (Cantonal Hospital Lucerne, Switzerland) and Prof. Dr. Carsten Perka (Charité Berlin, University Hospital Berlin, Germany) who supported me intensively the last years and allowed me to proceed clinically as well as academically. They gave me ideas and advises for my clinical and academic career.

Additionally, I would like to thank Kathrin Aeschlimann, Susanne Berger and Lee Ann Finno who helped me during the last years. I am also very thankful to all the other unmentioned professors, tutors and colleagues who supported me and made my medical study, my clinical and academic work despite the lot of hard work so unforgettable pleasant.